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Chapter 1: Introduction and Overview 

I. Introduction and Executive Summary  

On March 3, 2014, the Office of Inspector General (OIG) of the United States Department of 

Commerce was contacted by a recruiting firm (Complainant), which alleged that the Census 

Bureau (Census) had improperly circumvented competition by awarding a sole source contract 

to a firm for executive search services. The Complainant asserted that the sole source award 

and justification in support of the award were improper because several other firms were 

capable of providing the executive search services sought by Census. The Complainant argued 

that the contract “should have been open to full and open competition.”1 The Competition in 

Contracting Act (CICA) of 1984 and Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR) require that federal 

agencies award contracts after holding a full and open competition unless a specific exception 

applies.    

1 OIG Case Management System (CMS) Doc. No. 1.  

The OIG interviewed individuals in Census’s contracting office who were involved with the 

award of the sole source contract. These individuals reported that they had relied on assertions 

from a senior employee (Senior Employee) working in the Office of the Census Director, which 

was the Census office seeking the recruiting services. According to the contracting office 

employees, the Senior Employee claimed that only one particular headhunting firm had the 

specialized experience and qualifications to do the work required. If true, this would have 

allowed Census to avoid holding a competition and to award the contract directly to that firm. 

The OIG met with the Senior Employee to ask how the determination was made that only one 

headhunting firm (Headhunter)—which had no website, no employees save the owner, no prior 

government experience, and was operated out of a private residence in another region of the 

country—could be the only firm capable of performing the executive search for Census. In her 

initial interview with the OIG, the Senior Employee could not provide specific information 

about the market research she conducted, but told OIG investigators that she thought either 

the Census Director (Director) or a senior Census executive (Executive) had recommended 

the Headhunter.2 Following this interview, on May 7, 2014, the OIG formally opened an 

investigation into the matter. 

2 CMS Doc. No. 3. 

The OIG’s investigation found that the Census Bureau, in attempting to recruit top talent to fill 

a critical position at the agency, failed to adhere to several rules and regulations related to 

federal contracting and recruiting. Specifically, the OIG found:  

 Census did not comply with CICA and the FAR when it awarded a sole source contract 
to the Headhunter.  

 Census did not comply with federal regulations governing the use of commercial 

recruiting firms. 
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 The acceptance of voluntary services from the Headhunter implicates the Antideficiency 

Act.  

 The Director did not comply with Department policy by receiving services from the 
Headhunter without a contract in place.  

 The Director did not comply with Department policy and government-wide guidance by 

using his personal e-mail to conduct official government business.  

 The Senior Employee did not comply with federal regulations in the procurement 
process that led to the contract award to the Headhunter.  

 Census’s Acquisition Division failed to perform its oversight function and did not 

appropriately advise the Director’s office with respect to the acquisition.  

The contract that Census issued to the Headhunter had a maximum fee of $55,000, and 

because Census did not hire a candidate that he identified, Census was not required to pay him. 

The OIG’s investigation did not substantiate fraud or attempts by government employees to 

benefit themselves at the government’s expense. In fact, the Director and other employees 

involved in the matter appeared to be motivated by a desire to ensure the success of Census’s 

decennial operation by attracting top talent from the private sector in a cost-effective manner. 

Nevertheless, in attempting to ensure the agency’s success, Census officials failed—sometimes 

intentionally—to comply with the rules and regulations governing the contracting process and 
official conduct.  

The resulting investigative report presents a case study in how a federal agency can fail to 

follow the rules while attempting to recruit senior officials. The report should also serve to 

remind the Department that, as holders of the public trust, employees cannot set aside 

compliance and ethics in pursuit of the agency’s mission. While the rules and regulations 

constraining the government’s actions with respect to contracting are many and complicated, 

federal employees cannot take shortcuts by ignoring them to achieve the agency’s goals.  

To illustrate how Census could have pursued its recruitment of top talent in compliance with 

the rules, the report concludes with a discussion of the various paths that Census could have 

taken, including by pursuing full and open competition or using the General Services 

Administration (GSA) Schedule to select a recruiting firm. The report also makes 

recommendations for Census to address issues going forward, including training for Census’s 

acquisition staff regarding the requirements for sole source awards and legal review and 

approval of all sole source contracts requiring a justification prior to award. 

II. Legal and Regulatory Overview 

This investigation implicates a variety of federal statutes, regulations, and guidance, as well as 

Commerce policies. A brief introduction of the legal concepts involved in this matter is 

included below.  
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A. Antideficiency Act 

The Antideficiency Act (ADA) prohibits federal agencies from engaging in certain activities 

related to the use of appropriated funds. One section of the ADA, codified at 31 U.S.C. § 1342, 

prohibits federal employees from accepting voluntary services for the government. The statute 

provides, 

[A]n officer or employee of the United States Government or of the District of 

Columbia government may not accept voluntary services for either government or 

employ personal services exceeding that authorized by law except for emergencies 

involving the safety of human life or the protection of property.  

B. Unauthorized Commitments 

The Commerce Acquisition Manual (CAM) supplements the FAR and provides policies for 

Department of Commerce personnel related to the acquisition of goods and services. Section 

1.1 of CAM 1301.602 states “[i]t is the policy of the Department of Commerce that all 

acquisitions are to be made only by government officials having authority to make such 

commitments.” The policy notes that “[u]nauthorized commitments occur when the 

[Department] accepts goods or services in the absence of an enforceable contract entered into 

by an individual with delegated contracting authority.” 

C. Department Policy and Guidance on the Use of Personal E-mail 

The Department of Commerce policy on using personal e-mail, as issued on May 28, 2013, by 

the Chief Information Officer, provides,  

DOC [Department of Commerce] employees and contractors are reminded that all official 

DOC e-mail communications must be made using their assigned DOC e-mail account. Official 

DOC e-mail communications are defined as any transfer of signs, writing, images, data or 

intelligence via e-mail for the intended purpose of supporting DOC missions and objectives. Use 

of personal e-mail accounts for official communications is prohibited. 

The National Archives and Records Administration (NARA) publishes guidance for federal 

agencies concerning the appropriate handling of federal records, which includes specific 

provisions on maintaining e-mails that qualify as records. At all relevant times during the 

investigation, 44 U.S.C. § 3301 defined a record as, 

[D]ocumentary materials, regardless of physical form or characteristics, made or received by an 

agency of the United States Government under Federal law or in connection with the 

transaction of public business and preserved or appropriate for preservation by that agency or 

its legitimate successor as evidence of the organization, functions, policies, decisions, 

procedures, operations, or other activities of the Government or because of the informational 

value of data in them.3 

                                                           
3 41 U.S.C. § 3301. This was the definition in effect when the conduct occurred. The statute has since been 

amended.   
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NARA Bulletin 2013-03 provides,  

While agency employees should not generally use personal e-mail accounts to conduct official 

agency business, there may be times when agencies authorize the use of personal e-mail 

accounts, such as in emergency situations when Federal accounts are not accessible or when an 

employee is initially contacted through a personal account. In these situations, agency employees 

must ensure that all Federal records sent or received on personal e-mail systems are captured 

and managed in accordance with agency recordkeeping practices.  

NARA Bulletin 2014-06 provides,  

[A]gency officials may create Federal records if they conduct agency business on their personal 

e-mail accounts. E-mail sent on personal e-mail accounts pertaining to agency business and 

meeting the definition of Federal records must be filed in an agency recordkeeping system. 

D. Competition in Contracting Act  

The Competition in Contracting Act of 1984 requires that all federal government contracts be 

awarded based on full and open competition unless a statutory exception applies.4  CICA states 

in relevant part,  

4 41 U.S.C. § 3301.  

[A]n executive agency in conducting a procurement for property or services shall— 

(1) obtain full and open competition through the use of competitive procedures in accordance 

with the requirements of this division and the Federal Acquisition Regulation;5 and  

5 The FAR prescribes the policies and procedures that federal agencies must follow in acquiring goods and services. 

FAR 1.101.  

(2) use the competitive procedure or combination of competitive procedures that is best suited 

under the circumstances of the procurement.6     

6 41 U.S.C. § 3301 (a).  

One statutory exception to CICA’s “full and open competition” requirement states,   

An executive agency may use procedures other than competitive procedures only when— 

(1) the property or services needed by the executive agency are available from only one 

responsible source and no other type of property or services will satisfy the needs of the 

executive agency.7      

7 41 U.S.C. § 3304 (a)(1) (formerly 41 U.S.C. § 253); see also FAR 6.302-1 “Only one responsible source and no 

other supplies or services will satisfy agency requirements.” (citing 41 U.S.C. § 3304(a)(1)).   

The FAR states that use of this exception “may be appropriate . . . [w]hen there is a reasonable 

basis to conclude that the agency’s minimum needs can only be satisfied by (i) unique supplies 

or services available from only one source or only one supplier with unique capabilities.”8  

                                                           

8 FAR 6.302-1(b)(1)(i); 13.106-1(b). 
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E. Regulations Concerning the Use of Commercial Recruiting Firms 

5 C.F.R. Part 300, Subpart D prescribes regulations for federal agencies concerning the use of 

commercial recruiting firms and nonprofit employment services. 5 C.F.R. § 300.403 provides,  

An agency may use a commercial recruiting firm and/or a nonprofit employment service in 

recruiting for vacancies when: 

(a)  The agency head or designee determines that such use is likely to provide well-qualified 

candidates who would otherwise not be available or that well-qualified candidates are in short 

supply;  

(b)  The agency has provided vacancy notices to appropriate State Employment Service and 

OPM offices; and  

(c)  The agency continues its own recruiting efforts. 

5 C.F.R. § 300.405 provides,  

(a) A written contract awarded in accordance with procedures stipulated in the Federal 

Acquisition Regulations is required between the Federal agency and a commercial recruiting firm 

or nonprofit employment service. The contract will satisfy the “written request” required by 18 

U.S.C. 211. That statute prohibits the acceptance of payment for aiding an individual to obtain 

Federal employment except when an employment agency renders services pursuant to the 

written request of an executive department or agency.  

 (b) The contract must include the qualifications requirements for the position(s) to be filled and 

also provide that the firm or service will:  

 (1)  Screen candidates only against the basic qualifications requirements for the 

position(s) specified by the Federal agency in the contract and refer to the agency all 

candidates who appear to meet those requirements;  

 (2)  Refer to the Federal agency only those applicants from whom the firm or service 

has not accepted fees other than those permitted under § 300.404(b) of this part;  

 (3)  Not imply that it is the sole or primary avenue for employment with the Federal 

Government or a specific Federal agency; and  

 (4)  Recruit and refer candidates in accordance with applicable merit principles and 

equal opportunity laws. 

III. Organization of the Report and Methodology 

The remaining sections of this report include: a factual description of events in roughly 

chronological order (Chapter 2); the OIG’s analysis of those events in light of governing laws, 

regulations, and policies (Chapter 3); a note on comments from certain individuals involved in 

the events (Chapter 4); and conclusions and recommendations (Chapter 5).  
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The OIG identified information in the factual description of events through investigative 

interviews and the review of documents and e-mails related to the case. The OIG researched 

applicable legal standards and analyzed the events in light of those standards. Following the 

completion of its investigation, the OIG prepared a draft report presenting the relevant facts 

and the OIG’s analysis. The OIG provided a copy of the draft report to the Census Director, 

the Senior Employee, and the Senior Acquisition Official and considered all comments received 

from those individuals before issuing its final report. 
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Chapter 2: The Facts 

I. The Director and the Headhunter’s Prior Association 

John H. Thompson joined the Census Bureau in 1975 to work in the Statistical Methods 

Division and later became Chief of Census’s Decennial Management Division, where he served 

as the senior career executive responsible for the 2000 decennial census. In 2002, after 

completing the decennial, he was contacted by the Headhunter, the owner and sole proprietor 

of a small business providing executive search services from his private residence outside of the 

mid-Atlantic region. In an interview with the OIG, the Headhunter stated that he specializes in 

recruiting statistical and research professionals in the health and social policy areas and has 

recruited epidemiologists, economists, statisticians, and other “advanced degree researchers” 

for various organizations for more than two decades. The Headhunter also told the OIG that 

he conducts recruiting searches discretely, noting that “I keep my mouth shut, and people 

respect that.”9  

9 Headhunter Tr. 1 at 91-100.  

After contacting Thompson in 2002, the Headhunter recruited him to work for an independent 

social research organization (Social Research Organization) that specializes in public opinion 

and survey research.10 The Social Research Organization hired Thompson to be an executive 

vice president, and he resigned from the Census Bureau in 2002.11 In November 2008, he was 

promoted to be the president of that organization.12 

10 This citation is on file with the OIG.  
11 Organization website.  
12 Id. 

During Thompson’s tenure at the Social Research Organization, the Headhunter provided the 

organization with recruiting services.13 The Headhunter told the OIG that he did not interact 

with Thompson while working for the organization and has never actually met him in person. 

Thompson confirmed this and also testified that he has never had any financial dealings with the 

Headhunter.14 Thompson remained at the Social Research Organization until being nominated 

by the President of the United States to his current position, Director of the U.S. Census 

Bureau, in May 2013.15 Thompson was subsequently confirmed by the U.S. Senate and was 

sworn in as the 24th Census Director (Director) on August 8, 2013.16 In August of 2013, after 

the Headhunter learned of the Director’s appointment, he e-mailed to offer his congratulations. 

13 Headhunter Tr. 1 at 1234. 
14 Director Tr. at 278, 392-99.  
15 http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2013/05/23/presidential-nominations-sent-senate-0. 
16 http://go.usa.gov/3kfSx

II. Initial Discussions Regarding a Contract with the Headhunter 

The Director stated in his OIG interview that, soon after starting in that position, he 

determined that new leadership was necessary in an executive position within the Decennial 

                                                           

.  
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Census office (Decennial Position).17 The Census Bureau is responsible for conducting a 

decennial census every decade as set forth in the U.S. Constitution. Undertaking this endeavor 

requires years of research and planning, and in 2010, cost the U.S. taxpayers $13 billion.18  

17 Director Tr. at 140-53. The OIG did not review the basis for the Director’s determination that he needed to 

hire someone new for the Decennial Position and obtained no evidence to suggest that it was based on improper 

considerations. 
18 Office of Inspector General, Department of Commerce, OIG-15-002, Top Management Challenges. 

The Director discussed the matter with the Executive, who agreed that new leadership was 

needed in the Decennial Position.19 The Executive and the Director then discussed working 

with a headhunter to help identify candidates to fill the position.20 The Director told the 

Executive that he knew a recruiter from his previous job and thought he might be able to assist 

Census find candidates for the Decennial Position.21 The Executive told the OIG that she initially 

expressed skepticism with the idea of hiring a headhunter, explaining that Census had 

previously issued a contract to an executive search firm to conduct a different search, which 

had not been successful.22 According to the Executive, she was “irked” that Census was 

required to pay the firm, even though it had not found any appropriate candidates.23 The 

Director responded to the Executive’s concerns by telling her that the Headhunter worked on 

a contingency-fee basis, and thus, Census would have to pay him only if he identified a candidate 

that Census ultimately hired.24 Both the Executive and the Director agreed to look into the 

matter further.25   

19 Executive Tr. at 141-43.  
20 Id. at 161-62.  
21 Director Tr. at 777-80; Executive Tr. at 240-43.  
22 Executive Tr. at 213-14, 238-40. The OIG did not investigate this earlier sole source award because it was 

outside the scope of the current investigation. However, because a sole source vehicle was used for services that 

are widely found in the commercial marketplace, this earlier sole source award may raise similar concerns as those 

discussed in this report.     
23 Id. at 199-200, 244, 247-48, 263-65.  
24 Director Tr. at 180-84; Executive Tr. at 248-50.  
25 Director Tr. at 185-86; Executive Tr. at 266-68, 276-77.  

Soon thereafter, in September 2013, the Director e-mailed the Headhunter to inform him that 

he “may have something that you'd be interested in.”26 In the following month, the Director and 

the Headhunter had at least two telephone conversations.27 According to both, these e-mails 

and phone calls related to the Director’s interest in the Headhunter conducting a recruiting 

search for the Decennial Position.28 The Headhunter reported that the Director told him 

during those calls that there was an incumbent in the Decennial Position, and therefore, the 

search needed to be “totally confidential.”29 

26 Case File No. 39. Certain case documents are collected under CMS Doc. No. 99, and referred to throughout as 

“Case File No.” 
27 Case File Nos. 46, 87, and 88.  
28 Headhunter Tr. 1 at 434-40. 
29 Id. at 223-27. 

The Director told the OIG that, at around the same time as his communications with the 

Headhunter, he also spoke with a senior contracting official from Census’s Acquisition Division 

(Senior Acquisition Official).30 According to both the Director and the Senior Acquisition 

                                                           

30 Director Tr. at 188-91.  
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Official, the Director asked the Senior Acquisition Official whether Census could enter into a 

contract with a headhunter if he were to be paid only in the event that Census selected one of 

his candidates.31 Both witnesses told the OIG that the Senior Acquisition Official informed the 

Director that it was possible.32 Neither recalled the Senior Acquisition Official advising the 

Director any further with respect to the acquisition process or the requirements for issuing a 

sole source award.33    

31 Id. at 188-91; Senior Acquisition Official Tr. II at 257-59. 
32 Senior Acquisition Official Tr. II at 257-59, 260-61; Director Tr. at 192.  
33 Senior Acquisition Official Tr. II at 543-47; Director Tr. at 370-72. In his first interview with the OIG, the Senior 

Acquisition Official stated that he did not recall his conversation with the Director regarding the headhunting 

contract. Senior Acquisition Official Tr. I at 172, 193. In his second interview with the OIG, when pressed to recall, 

the Senior Acquisition Official stated that he thought there was a conversation with the Director in which he 

asked the Senior Acquisition Official whether it was possible to do a contract with a headhunter, to which the 

Senior Acquisition Official recalled responding “sure, it is.” Senior Acquisition Official Tr. II at 257-59, 260-61.  

On October 21, 2013, the Director sent an e-mail to the Headhunter, writing, “I determined 

that we can engage your services. I'll be in touch tomorrow.”34 When the OIG asked the 

Director how he determined this, he explained, “because [the Senior Acquisition Official] told 

me.”35 

34 Case File No. 55. 
35 Director Tr. at 910.  

On October 29, 2013, the Director e-mailed the Senior Acquisition Official the Headhunter’s 

name and e-mail address. The Senior Acquisition Official responded to the Director’s e-mail 

two days later, writing,  

[W]ho should [our] staff work with to define what [the Headhunter] will be doing for us[?] I 

know you said it was for recruiting a senior level position, but we need to complete some kind 

of Statement of Work along with other documents to complete the procurement.36  

36 Case File No. 44. 

III. The Executive Assigns the Senior Employee to Work on the Acquisition 

On October 31, 2013, the Director forwarded the Senior Acquisition Official’s e-mail to the 

Executive, who responded, “Do you need help with this?”37 The Executive suggested that they 

assign the Senior Employee to work with Census’s Acquisition Division on the procurement 

effort, to which the Director agreed.38 The Executive stated in her OIG interview that she 

assigned the Senior Employee to work on the acquisition because of the sensitive nature of the 
project—namely, that it involved replacing an incumbent in the Decennial Position.39 The 

Executive told the OIG that, shortly after her discussion with the Director, she asked the 

Senior Employee to work with Census’s Acquisition Division to see whether it would be 

possible to award a recruiting contract to the Headhunter, explaining to the Senior Employee 

that the Director was familiar with the Headhunter and knew that he would work on a 

37 Id. 
38 Case File No. 50. 

                                                           

39 Executive Tr. at 456-58.  



 U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE   OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 

10    OIG CASE FILE NO. 14-0408 

contingency-fee basis.40 According to the Executive, she explained to the Senior Employee that 

Census had awarded a sole source contract to a different headhunting firm a few years prior.41  

40 Id. at 288-98. 
41 Id. at 280-98.  

The Executive told the OIG that she believed that she told the Senior Employee either during 

their first conversation or very early in the process that the purpose of retaining a headhunter 

was to search for candidates to replace the incumbent for the Decennial Position.42 She further 

explained that she had been concerned that, if she had engaged an employee in Census’s 

Human Resources office, information could be leaked.43 Moreover, the Executive told the OIG 

that working on the matter would not have been part of the Senior Employee’s normal duties, 

and thus, the Senior Employee would want to know why the Executive was assigning the matter 

to her.44  

42 Id. at 464-78.   
43 Id. at 478-81.  
44 Id. at 475-78.  

The Senior Employee told the OIG that she believed she was told that the Headhunter would 

be searching for potential candidates to replace the incumbent in the Decennial Position 

sometime after her initial conversation with the Executive, but she could not recall precisely 

when that occurred.45 

45 Senior Employee Tr. II at 260-69, 434-39.  

IV. The Acquisition Specialist Is Assigned and Works with the Senior Employee 

on the Contract 

In early November 2013, a Census contracting employee (Acquisition Specialist) was assigned 

to work on the procurement and reached out to the Senior Employee to begin the acquisition 

process. The Acquisition Specialist told the OIG that, when she first contacted the Senior 

Employee, the Director’s office had already identified the Headhunter as the search firm it 

wanted to use.46  

46 Acquisition Specialist Tr. at 365-66, 381.  

On November 7, 2013, the Acquisition Specialist provided the Senior Employee with a 

statement of work (a contracting document that describes the services to be provided) that 

was used in the earlier headhunting contract that the Executive had mentioned to the Senior 

Employee.47 The following week, on November 13, the Senior Employee and the Acquisition 

Specialist met again to discuss the procurement. Although the Acquisition Specialist and the 

Senior Employee told the OIG that they could not recall the specifics of this conversation, an e-
mail from the Acquisition Specialist to the Senior Employee later that day suggests that they 

spoke about the process they would follow, and the prior headhunting sole source award. In 

her e-mail to the Senior Employee, the Acquisition Specialist advised,  

47 Case File No. 77. 

[T]he previous procurement was indeed issued using a sole source justification. Depending on 

the justification used, the Gov. is required to post a synopsis of the action for at least 14 days 

before the action is completed (meaning 14 days before award is issued). The synopsis shall 
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include a description of the services being acquired. During this time, any company that feels 

they have the capabilities to provide the required services to the Gov. shall submit a capabilities 

statement for the Gov’s evaluation to see if that source is also a potential service provide[r], or 

if indeed the one identified for the sole source is still the only source. If the evaluation of 

capabilities turn out as not favorable for the gov, we can proceed with the sole source. If the 

[evaluation] of capabilities does demonstrate that there are other potential source[s], we would 

have to compete the procurement.  

In the previous procurement, a synopsis was posted 14 days prior to award. Three vendors 

submitted capabilities statements that were evaluated by [a Census official]. He determined that 

these other companies were not capable of providing services, so the contract was awarded to the 

originally identified source. After the contract, a justification was posted.48 

48 Case File No. 78 (emphasis added). 

At some point during these discussions, the Senior Employee requested the materials from the 

earlier headhunting procurement, and on November 14, 2013, a different acquisition official 

forwarded the statement of work and justification document from the earlier 2011 

procurement to the Senior Employee.49 A few days later, on November 18, the Acquisition 

Specialist e-mailed the Senior Employee requesting that she send the statement of work and 

sole source justification for the current contract for review.50 Later that day, the Senior 

Employee forwarded the draft statement of work and a document titled “Justification for Other 

than Full and Open Competition” (Justification Document) to the Acquisition Specialist.51 The 

FAR requires that agencies include a document justifying a decision not to pursue competition 

under certain circumstances, and includes specific requirements for what information should be 

included in the justification.52 The Justification Document the Senior Employee forwarded to the 

Acquisition Specialist on November 18 was the same in all material respects as the Justification 

Document signed by the Acquisition Specialist and ultimately published by Census on February 

28, 2014.53 Thus, the evidence points to the Senior Employee as the source of the Justification 

Document.54   

49 Case File No. 79. 
50 Case File No. 80.  
51 Id.  
52 FAR 6.302; FAR 6.303. 
53 Compare Case File No. 80 (draft Justification Document forwarded by Senior Employee on November 18) with 

Case File No. 15 (Justification Document published by Census on February 28, 2014).  
54 The Senior Employee repeatedly testified that she could not recall whether she had ever seen the Justification 

Document and could not recall drafting it. Senior Employee Tr. I at 1030-32; Senior Employee Tr. II at 889-92, 

902-05. As discussed above, however, it appears from the evidence that she prepared that document. Moreover, 

the Acquisition Specialist testified that the Justification Document was provided to her by the Director’s office, and 

that typically, it is an official from the program office who prepares it. Acquisition Specialist Tr. at 752-58, 765-70. 

Another acquisition specialist who signed the contract also testified that the justification document is normally 

provided by the program office. Acquisition Specialist 2 Tr. at 300-02. It is uncontested that the Senior Employee 

was the only person from the Director’s office working with the Acquisition Specialist on the procurement. Thus, 

the vast weight of the evidence points to the Senior Employee as the source of the Justification Document. 

V. The Headhunter Identifies Candidate One 

On November 16, 2013, two days before the Senior Employee sent the Justification Document 

to the Acquisition Specialist, the Headhunter e-mailed the Director to propose the first 
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candidate for consideration (Candidate One) asking the Director to “let me know what you 

think, including anything you like or don't like.” At the time that the Headhunter proposed 

Candidate One, Census did not have a contract in place to obtain services from the 

Headhunter and would not have one in place for three months. Further, Census did not have a 

vacancy announcement posted for the Decennial Position and would not post one for almost 

one year.  

In the Headhunter’s November 16 e-mail, he attached Candidate One’s résumé and a cover 

letter on the Headhunting firm’s letterhead that included the Headhunter’s signature.55 The 

signed cover letter indicated that Candidate One was “being submitted for the position of 

Exploratory.”56 When the OIG asked the Headhunter why he had written “Exploratory” 

instead of Decennial Position, he cited the need for discretion, noting that per instructions he 

received from the Director, he “was not even allowed to tell [candidates] what the position 

was.” The OIG also asked whether the Headhunter had searched for candidates other than for 

the Decennial Position, and he reported that he had not.57  

55 See App. A (Headhunter’s cover letters transmitting candidates’ résumés).  
56 App. A (emphasis in original). 
57 Headhunter Tr. I at 434-37, 1171-73.   

On November 17, one day after receiving the Headhunter’s e-mail about Candidate One, the 

Director responded, “I’m not sure if he is the one, but it’s an amazing start. I'll share this with a 
few folks and get back with you.”58 E-mail records indicated that the Director then forwarded 

the Headhunter’s e-mail to the Executive, noting that the proposed candidate was “Not bad for 

a first attempt. Not sure if he's the one, but it's heading in a good direction.”59  

58 Case File No. 36. 
59 Case File No. 37. 

VI. The Acquisition Process Continues  

Soon after the Headhunter’s correspondence with the Director concerning Candidate One, the 
Acquisition Specialist e-mailed the Headhunter to explain that the Census Bureau was “looking 

for an experienced firm that can assist our team to identify appropriate and qualified candidates 

for consideration and ultimate selection of the best candidates to fill critical executive 

leadership positions.”60 The Acquisition Specialist went on to explain that “your company . . . 

was identified through market research as a potential services [provider] for the required 

services.”61 The Acquisition Specialist concluded the e-mail to the Headhunter by requesting 

that he send her a “capabilities statement” providing information on the following: (1) previous 

experience recruiting executives for the federal government; (2) company accomplishments; (3) 

knowledge of federal hiring regulations; (4) summary of recruiting approach; (5) pricing 

approach; and (6) three references.  

 

 

                                                           

60 The OIG found no evidence indicating that the Acquisition Specialist was aware that the Headhunter had already 

proposed Candidate One at that time.  
61 The OIG did not obtain evidence suggesting that Census had conducted any market research at this point.  
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On November 27, the Headhunter responded to the Acquisition Specialist with the following 

information,  

1. [The Headhunter’s firm] has never worked directly with the Federal Government on any 

search projects. However, the company has 28 years of previous experience with recruiting for 

executive-level positons in all areas of statistical research and operations, including survey 

methodologists, statisticians/biostatisticians, economists, epidemiologist, etc. for a wide variety 

of social and health science research organizations.  

2. Company Accomplishments: [The Headhunter’s firm] has filled many senior positions with 

many types of organizations. A few typical positons include: (a) CEO of a [medical] research 

company (b) Vice President of Survey Research for a consulting firm (c) . . . Director, Survey 

Research, for a research/consulting company (d) Chief [medical official] for a pharmaceutical 

company (e) other examples will be provided on request. 

3. Brief summary of your recruiting approach, including outreach strategy: [The Headhunter’s 

firm] works solely through personal contact. The company does not have a website and does 

not use mass media approaches, including advertising. Consequently, all contact is made through 

recommendations only, keeping the search off the public radar and assuring that only quality and 

referenced candidates are located.62 

62 Although the Headhunter’s capability statement represented that he works through references alone, he told 

the OIG that he often uses the internet to conduct searches. Headhunter Tr. I at 139-43. In addition, we note that 

he identified at least one candidate in this search through LinkedIn. Headhunter Tr. I at 611-16.  

4. Pricing approach employed by your company: [The Headhunter’s firm] uses only one form of 

pricing—the fee for a completed project would be 25% of the hire’s first year guaranteed 

income. This does not include relocation costs, sign-on bonuses, etc., but would include any 

guaranteed bonuses (not merit bonuses, production bonuses, etc.).  

5. Point of contact of three references, preferably from federal clients or statistical entities 

clients: [references provided for three clients].  

The Headhunter’s response did not address the Acquisition Specialist’s question about his 

knowledge of federal hiring regulations.63 

63 Case File No. 19.   

A. The Acquisition Specialist Conducts Market Research and Refers Six Small Business Firms to the 

Senior Employee for Consideration   

Around this time, the Acquisition Specialist conducted market research into other headhunting 

firms that might be able to provide the executive search services Census was seeking. On 
November 28, the Acquisition Specialist e-mailed the results of her search to the Senior 

Employee. In her e-mail, the Acquisition Specialist identified six firms that, in her view, would be 

“a good fit” to perform the executive search services for Census.64 The Acquisition Specialist 

told the Senior Employee that she was still moving forward in communicating with the 

Headhunter, but noted the following, 

                                                           

64 Acquisition Specialist Tr. at 437-38.  
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In the meantime, I did some additional research to have more options, in case they are needed. 

Below is a list of some companies I was able to find. All these companies are GSA schedule 

contract holders, and small businesses. Some of them are service-disabled small businesses and 

8(a). GSA Schedule provides a more streamlined process (we request and review proposals 

from three vendors, select the best, and issue the order... no need to publicize (post) or write 

up justifications as long as at least three vendors are reviewed). With an 8(a) company, we can 

go directly to them. 

For all companies, I have included a short description, with their website link and the link to 

their GSA contract, which provides ordering info (e.g. payment terms, and further description of 

services). 

Please feel free to check some or all of these vendors, and let me know if you would like to 

receive further info on any of them.65 

65 Case File No. 51. As noted in the Acquisition Specialist’s e-mail, the U.S. General Services Administration 

routinely establishes long-term, government-wide contracts (GSA Schedule contracts), which provide federal 

agencies with access to commercial products and services at pre-negotiated discounted prices. Also as described in 

the Acquisition Specialist’s e-mail, federal agencies may acquire products and services off these GSA Schedule 

contracts via a streamlined acquisition process. The Acquisition Specialist’s e-mail also noted that some of the 

firms she presented were small businesses and/or socio-economically disadvantaged business (e.g., 8(a), service 

disabled), which may receive contracting preferences under the FAR.    

B. The Senior Employee Rejects the Six Small Businesses Referred by the Acquisition Specialist as 

Not Capable of Performing the Work  

The Acquisition Specialist told the OIG that the Senior Employee rejected the six small 

businesses she had sent to her, though the Senior Employee’s rejection and any supporting 

documentation was not found in the contract file.66 When the OIG asked the Senior Employee 

how she evaluated the six firms, she reported that she visited the links contained in the 

Acquisition Specialist’s e-mail, which brought her to the firms’ websites and GSA Schedule 

contracts, and “determined that based on what was there, that they didn’t have the expertise, 

um, or the experience . . . [t]o meet the requirement.”67 The Senior Employee also told the 

OIG, through her attorney, that she recalled having only oral communications with the 

Acquisition Specialist regarding her evaluation and rejection of these six firms. The Senior 

Employee did not provide the OIG with any written documentation evincing her evaluation of 

these six firms.     

66 Case File No. 71. 
67 Senior Employee Tr. at 1128, 1146-47, 1153. 

C. The OIG Independently Reviews the Six Small Business Firms Referred by the Acquisition 

Specialist  

As discussed in more detail in Chapter 3 of this report, the OIG conducted a review of these 

six firms in the same manner as reported by the Senior Employee: by visiting the websites and 

GSA supply schedule documents enclosed in the Acquisition Specialist’s e-mail and examining 
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the information contained there.68 The pu rpose of the O IG's review was to assess each fi rm in 
accordance with the facto rs that Census used to justify its sole source award to the 
Headhunter, namely: ( I) expe rience conducting executive searches; (2) expe rience recru iting in 
the statistical, survey, research, and education field; (3) experience with the federal 
government; and (4) experience with other public-sector entities. 

The O IG's review revealed that at least three of the six fi rms listed experience corresponding 
to the factors listed above and identified by Census.69 Specifically, three of the six fi rms listed on 
their websites and/or their GSA supply schedule documentation past experience successfully 
performing executive search services for the federal government and past experience recruiting 
in the "statistical I survey I research and education field," as specified in the Special Notice. The 
results of the O IG's review are presented below in Table I, and discussed in Chapter 3. 

Table I. The O IG's Independent Review of the Six Small Business Firms Proposed by the 
Acquisition Specialist 

I Conducts I Has experience recruiting in 
Has experience 

I Has other working with 
Firm executive ''statistical/survey/research federal public sector 

searches? and education field"? government? experience? 

FirmA Not listed Not listed Yes Not listed 
Firm B Not listed Not listed Yes Yes 
Firm C Yes Yes Yes Not listed 
Firm D Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Firm E Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Firm F Yes Yes Yes Yes 

D. The Acquisition Specialist Discusses the Acquisition with a Department Attorney 

The Acquisition Specialist told t he O IG that she d iscussed the procurement with an attorney­
advisor working for the Department's Office of General Counsel (Attorney) in order to get 
advice regarding the process she intended to follow and confirm that her documentation was 
sufficient .70 According to the Attorney, she told the Acquisition Specialist to make su re that she 
conducted market research because she had to be able to justify any sole source decision and 
to make su re a ll the requirements in the FAR were followed.71 While the Attorney would come 
to review two documents in the contract file , it does not appear that she was asked to, nor did 

68 To ensure that the information reviewed was the same as what would have been reviewed by the Senior 
Employee, the OIG examined the file properties for the GSA supply schedule documents linked in the Acquisition 
Specialist's e-mail, finding that each had been created and last modified prior to November 20 13, when the Senior 
Employee would have reviewed the documents. The OIG also used the Internet Archive (https:l/archive.org) to 
review snapshots from each of the firm 's websites before the time period when the Senior Employee would have 
reviewed those sites. The O IG also examined snapshots of those websites after November 2013, to note whether 
any changes relevant to the analysis had been made during that timeframe. 
69 Firm C could have also been considered capable by this test, as having other, non-federal, public sector 
experience was not a mandatory requirement . However, the OIG used a more caut ious approach to evaluating a 
fi rm's capability. 
70 Acquisition Specialist Tr. at 1790-95. 
71 Attorney Tr. at 8 12-20, 834-38, 840-43. 
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she, review Census’s Justification Document or the sole source contract to the Headhunter 

prior to contract award. 72      

72 The Attorney told the OIG that the Office of General Counsel’s practice was that only sole source contracts 

meeting certain financial thresholds (generally above $100,000) were required to be submitted for legal review. 

When these thresholds are not met, contracts will obtain legal review only when an acquisition specialist or the 

program office requests it. Attorney Tr. at 1701-06, 1772; CMS Doc. No. 80.  
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VII. The Headhunter Identifies Candidates Two and Three and the Director 

Requests that Communication Move to Personal E-mail 

On December 4, 2013, about two months prior to award of the contract, the Headhunter 

proposed a second candidate (Candidate Two) for consideration by the Director. In his e-mail, 

the Headhunter included Candidate Two’s résumé and a cover letter on his firm’s letterhead, 

which again indicated that the candidate was being submitted for the position of 

“Exploratory.”73 Later that day, the Director forwarded Candidate Two’s résumé to the 

Executive, asking for her opinion.74 The following day, the Executive responded by writing, 

“Looks like a terrific CIO [Chief Information Officer] candidate.”75 The following day, the 

Headhunter proposed Candidate Three for the Director’s consideration.76 

73 App. A. 
74 Case File No. 52. 
75 Id. 
76 See Table 3 (excerpt of Headhunter’s tracking sheet listing Candidate Three as proposed on December 5); see 

also Case File No. 33 (December 8 e-mail from Headhunter to the Director discussing Candidates One, Two and 

Three).  

On December 8, the Headhunter e-mailed the Director requesting feedback on Candidates 

One, Two, and Three, explaining that “it would really help me if you could have at least a quick 

look at the candidates I've sent and let me know what you like and don't like about them. I have 

more people in mind, but I don't want to send them without getting some feedback on the 

others first.”77  

77 Case File No. 34. 

One day later, the Director responded to the Headhunter’s e-mail, 

Sorry [Headhunter’s name]. They are close, I think the best is [Candidate Three.] However, I'm 

looking for someone who has a little more experience in incorporating IT into operational 

practices. That is, a little more of an operations research background in the IT arena. 

As an aside, I have a gmail account that is: 

[The Director’s personal e-mail address] 

It's probably better to use that one. My government e-mail is public information.78  

78 Id. 

From this point forward, the OIG’s review of the Director’s government e-mail account did not 

show any further communication with the Headhunter until after the contract was awarded 

two months later.  
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The OIG requested the Director provide all personal e-mail correspondence with the 

Headhunter concerning this matter. In response, the Director provided 27 e-mails from his 

personal e-mail account. These show that the Headhunter sent 15 e-mails to the Director’s 

personal e-mail account, and that the Director sent 12 e-mails from that account to the 

Headhunter. During this time, the record shows that the Headhunter proposed Candidates 

Four, Five, Six, and Seven. The e-mails from the Director to the Headhunter during this time 

indicate that he was evaluating the candidates, and an e-mail dated February 11, 2014, from the 

Director to the Headhunter suggests that the Director spoke with Candidate Four.79 On 

February 11, 2014, the Director e-mailed the Headhunter from his personal e-mail account, 

stating, 

[Candidate Four] might be OK. We talked, but he seemed to be a little hesitant about the job. 

I'm going to try and get out to [city] sometime over the next month, so if he has some time 

available, including lunch, dinner, or breakfast, we could meet in person. As for [Candidate Five] 

he would be a great CIO, but that's not what I need right now. [Candidate Six] is a good 

academic, but I don't think she has the management experience to do the job I'm looking at. 
 

On February 18, 2014, the Headhunter proposed Candidate Seven, noting that “he’s a very 

interesting young guy who’s been right at (or maybe even ahead of) the newest technology and 

techniques.”80 Soon after, the contract was awarded to the Headhunter’s firm. The Director 

and the Headhunter continued to exchange e-mails regarding Candidate Seven over the 

Director’s personal e-mail for the next nine days.  

On March 5, Census held an official contract launch meeting with the Headhunter.81 Following 

the launch meeting, it appears that the Director and the Headhunter stopped using the 

Director’s personal e-mail and resumed correspondence on the Director’s government e-mail 

account. Table 2 below shows the volume of e-mails sent by the Headhunter and by the 

Director using the Director’s personal e-mail account.  

                                                           
79 Case File No. 73. 
80 Case File No. 81. 
81 Post-award conferences or “kick-off” meetings are often required by the contract’s statement of work. Here, 

the statement of work required a “launch meeting,” which was scheduled for “TBD.”  Case File No. 18.  



 U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE   OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 

18    OIG CASE FILE NO. 14-0408 

Table 2. E-mails Between the Headhunter and the Director Using the Director’s Personal E-

mail Account 

Emails sent by the Headhunter

10

9 12/9/2013 

The Director 
8 Requests that the 

7 Headhunter Use 

Personal E-mail 
6

5
9 

4

3 6 

2
3 3 

1 2 2 

0

Emails sent by the Director

3/5/2014  

Contract Launch 

Meeting Held with 

Census and the 

Headhunter 

6/12/2014 

Candidate 11 

Visits DC 

1 1 

 
 

The Headhunter confirmed to the OIG that his search for candidates for the Decennial Position 

continued during the time he and the Director communicated on personal e-mail.82 The 

Headhunter also provided the OIG with a document that he used to track the names and dates 

of candidates that were presented to the Director for consideration during this time, along 

with his notes about those candidates, which is excerpted in Table 3 below.83  

82 Headhunter Tr. I at 2073-78, 2116-20, 2144-56.   
83 To validate the accuracy of the document provided by the Headhunter, the OIG reviewed the date on which the 

Headhunter noted that résumés were sent to Census and compared this with information obtained from a review 

of the Headhunter’s and Director’s e-mail correspondence. In the cases where the OIG was able to locate e-mails, 

the dates were found to match what the Headhunter entered into his tracking document. 

Table 3. First Excerpt from Headhunter’s Tracking Sheet on Candidates84 

 
 

84 The original version of the document provided by the Headhunter included names, which have been redacted by 

the OIG.  

The notes in the far right column titled “Resolution Start Date” provide information on the 

candidates with an explanation regarding why the Director and the Executive thought they 

were not adequate for the position.  

                                                           

Candidate Client Date Sent Sent To Position Resolution Start Date

[Candidate One] US Census November 16 2013 [the Director] No

[Candidate Two] US Census December 4 2013 [the Director] No

[Candidate Three] US Census December 5 2013 [the Director]

[Candidate Four] US Census December 17 2013 [the Director] Interesting, wouldn't relo

[Candidate Five] US Census January 24 2014 [the Director] Good CIO, not Director

[Candidate Six] US Census January 28 2014 [the Director] Too academic

[Candidate Seven] US Census February 18 2014 [the Director] Too junior
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VIII. Census Issues Its Synopsis/Special Notice and Awards the Sole Source 

Contract to the Headhunter  

On January 13, 2014, Census published a “Special Notice” announcing its intent to issue a sole 

source contract to the Headhunter for “Recruiting Services.”85 The Special Notice stated that 

the Census Bureau had “an immediate need for . . . consulting and support services in the area 

of Human Resources and Executive Search & Recruitment.”86 The Special Notice went on to 

state that Census needed “support services in the search of candidates to fill prospective Senior 

Executive Level positons whose fulfillment is critical to the Bureau’s mission.”87   

85 Case File No. 16. The Acquisition Specialist told the OIG that the “Special Notice” constituted the Synopsis 

required by the FAR and referred to in her e-mail to the Senior Employee on November 13, 2013.  
86 Id. at 1.  
87 Id.  

With respect to contractor requirements, the Special Notice stated,  

The selected contractor must have extensive experience and expertise in the area of recruiting 

executive level candidates for and within the statistical/survey/research and education field, 

preferably for the public sector. The contractor must have a proven record of accomplishment 

for networking, attracting and recruiting the best possible candidates within high quality 

statistical, social science research, not for profit, and public interest background.88  

88 Id. at 1-2.  

The Senior Employee told the OIG it was against these requirements that the Headhunter and 

the 13 other firms were judged.89 

89 Senior Employee Tr. I at 1632-35, 1652-55, 1677-83.  

The Special Notice estimated that the date of award would be January 22, 2014.90 The Special 

Notice also advised that it was “not a request for competitive proposals” but stated that 
“[i]nterested sources may submit a capability statement, proposal, or quotation which shall be 

considered by the agency.”91 The Special Notice announced that interested sources could 

submit their materials to the Acquisition Specialist by Friday, January 17, 2014.92 

90 Case File No. 16 at 2.  
91 Id.  
92 Id. 
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A. A Senior Official from the Office of the Secretary Recommends that Census Consider Cancelling 

the Proposed Sole Source Award to the Headhunter and a GSA Contracting Representative  

E-mails the Acquisition Specialist Regarding Other Potential Sources   

On January 14, 2014, a senior human resources employee 

from the Office of the Secretary (OS) (OS Senior Official) e-

mailed Census Human Resources officials to inquire about the 

Special Notice issued by Census the previous day. On January 

16, a Census human resources (HR) official responded to the 

OS Senior Official, stating that “senior leadership would like to 

have the capability of engaging the services of an executive 

search firm to support recruiting efforts for vacant Senior 

Executive Service (SES) positions, should the need arise,” and 

incorrectly stating that the Headhunter “was one which the 

Census Bureau engaged when it last recruited to fill” a similar 

position.93 That same day, the OS Senior Official responded, 

stating “there’s a good chance that this [award] will be challenged [by a potential offeror] so if 

this is not an immediate need, Census may want to consider pulling it down.”94 The OS Senior 

Official’s response was forwarded to the Senior Acquisition Official and Senior Employee on 

January 16.95 The OIG did not locate a response from either the Senior Acquisition Official or 

Senior Employee to this e-mail, and the Special Notice was not rescinded.  

93 Case File No. 56. The Headhunter had never performed recruitment services for Census or any other federal 

government agency prior to the work he performed here.  
94 Id. 
95 Case File No. 57.  

On January 21, 2014, a contracting representative from GSA e-mailed the Acquisition Specialist 

in reference to Census’s Special Notice.96 The GSA contracting representative told the 

Acquisition Specialist that GSA had numerous recruiting firms that could assist Census with its 

hiring needs on two of its GSA Schedules (Schedule 738x and Schedule 736).97 The Acquisition 

Specialist, who had moved to a new position, responded that she was “no longer [an acquisition 

specialist] under the Census Bureau Acquisition Division,” but told the GSA contracting 

representative that she would forward his e-mail to other [acquisition employees] at Census 

“for any future reference.”98 Although the Acquisition Specialist left the Census Bureau 

Acquisition Division, she remained involved with the procurement.  

96 Case File No. 91.  
97 Id. Schedule 738x is GSA’s Human Resources and Equal Employment Opportunity Schedule, and Schedule 736 is 

GSA’s Temporary Administration and Professional Staffing Services Schedule.  
98 Id.  

B. Seven Firms Submit Capability Statements in Response to Census’s Special Notice, Which Were 

All Rejected by the Senior Employee as Not Capable of Performing the Work   

Seven firms submitted capability statements in response to Census’s Special Notice announcing 

its intent to issue a sole source award to the Headhunter. (These seven firms were different 

from the six firms identified from the GSA Schedule by the Acquisition Specialist and referred 
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to the Senior Employee, which the Senior Employee also rejected.) The Acquisition Specialist 

sent the seven capability statements to the Senior Employee, who evaluated them. The Senior 

Employee’s assessment is set forth in a “Technical Assessment,” which was signed by the Senior 

Employee on January 31, 2014.99 Like the six firms discussed previously, the Senior Employee 

found that none of the seven firms were capable of performing the headhunting services 

required by Census.100 Specifically, the Senior Employee’s Technical Assessment stated that 

none of the seven firms demonstrated “extensive experience and expertise in the area of 

recruiting executive level candidates for and within the statistical, survey, and research and 

education fields, preferably for the public sector,” and that none of the firms demonstrated a 

“proven record of accomplishment for networking, attracting and recruiting the best possible 

candidates within a high quality statistical and social science research background.” The 

Technical Assessment concluded that “none of [the firms] possess the expertise required by 

the Census Bureau within the statistical, survey, and research and education fields, to complete 

the work effectively and within the short time frame. In addition, the cost/fee structure 

presented by most of these firms is not the most cost-effective for the Bureau,” and thus, the 

Director’s office “would still like to continue this procurement as a sole source to [the 
Headhunter].”101   

99 Case File No. 17. 
100 Id. at 4.  
101 Id.  

On January 22, the Acquisition Specialist e-mailed her supervisor and the Senior Acquisition 

Official, asking,  

[A]re we good to move ahead with engaging the [Headhunter] and starting the contract award 

process? As of Friday Noon, we had received capabilities statements from 6 interested 

companies102. . . . [The Senior Employee] reviewed them and didn’t find any of these companies 

to have the capabilities or expertise required . . . so she still wants to move forward with a sole 

source. . . . Please let me know how to proceed.103 

102 The seventh firm submitted a capability statement after this e-mail. 
103 Case File No. 10.  

 

The Acquisition Specialist’s supervisor responded, copying the Senior Acquisition Official, and 

advised the Acquisition Specialist to “document the file” because there was “a risk that a 

decision to sole source could be challenged by one of these vendors.”104  

104 Id.  

 

On January 28, the Acquisition Specialist sent the Senior Employee’s Technical Assessment 

evaluating and rejecting the seven firms to the Attorney for her review. On January 29, the 

Attorney provided minor comments to the draft and advised the Acquisition Specialist to put 

the Technical Assessment in the contract file along with a copy of the Special Notice and all 

capability statements received.105 Both the Acquisition Specialist and the Attorney told the OIG 

that they did not review the capability statements themselves, but instead, relied on the Senior 

Employee’s review to determine whether each firm was capable of meeting the requirements.106 

                                                           

105 Case File No. 85.   
106 Acquisition Specialist Tr. at 2661-66; Attorney Tr. at 1751-58.  
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Also on January 28, 2014, approximately three weeks before the contract was awarded, the 

Headhunter e-mailed the Acquisition Specialist, stating “Do we need to talk to start the 

process? . . . I think we need to get it rolling, as [the Director] is starting to get interested in a 

candidate.”107 The Acquisition Specialist forwarded the Headhunter’s e-mail to her supervisor, 

stating, “Keeping you in the loop. I received the email below from [the Headhunter’s company] 

(recruiting company identified by DIR’s [Director’s] office). . . . Seems there is some interest 

from DIRs office for this action to be completed asap.”108  

107 Case File No. 2.  
108 Id.   

C. The OIG Independently Reviews the Seven Firms 

that Submitted Capability Statements  

The OIG reviewed the submissions from the seven 

firms in light of the requirements set forth in the 

Special Notice, which are the requirements the 

Senior Employee told the OIG potential offerors had 

to meet in order to be deemed capable of 

performing the work. The OIG’s review determined 

that at least two of the firms, Firms 5 and 7 on the 

Senior Employee’s Technical Evaluation, provided 

evidence of “extensive experience and expertise in 

the area of recruiting executive level candidates for 

and within the statistical, survey, and research and 

education fields,” including experience successfully 

conducting executive level searches for the federal 

government.  

The results of the OIG’s review of the seven firms’ 

capability statements are set forth in Table 4 below 

and analyzed in Chapter 3.  

  

                                                           

Firm 5 in Brief (rejected by Senior 

Employee as not capable)  

A large, international recruiting firm that has 
successfully conducted executive searches 
for numerous for-profit companies, federal 
and state government agencies, 
universities, associations, and nonprofit 
organizations, including those in the 
statistical, survey, research and education 
fields.  

Representative placements include: 
Analytical leadership positions at the World 
Bank and SEC, a senior IT position at 
Department of Education, economics 
leadership positions at the Treasury, 
President and CEO at a large, nonprofit 
company, CFO at a large state university 
foundation, and President at a large public 
university. 

Firm 7 in Brief (rejected by Senior 

Employee as not capable) 

A small business that has successfully 
performed executive search services for the 
federal government for several years, 
scored a 98 out of a possible 100 in a Dun 
& Bradstreet Past Performance Evaluation, 
and was rated in the top 20 percent of all 
government contractors to have 
successfully undergone evaluation through 
GSA’s Schedule Contract approval process. 

Representative placements include: An 
analytical leadership position at FDA, 
several managers at an analytics firm, vice 
president of technology at a national 
service organization, and several senior 
positions at the IRS, GAO, and Defense 
Department. 
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IX. The Headhunter Proposes Additional Candidates 

On March 3, 2014, the Director e-mailed the Senior Employee requesting that she set up a 

conference call with the Headhunter, noting that “now that we have him on contract, [the 

Executive] should meet him (at least via phone).”113 The e-mail record reflects that the Senior 

Employee then scheduled a conference call involving the Executive, which was held on March 5, 

2014.114 Also on March 3, the Headhunter’s tracking sheet indicates that Candidate Eight was 

proposed, but a note reflected that the Director believed he did not have “enough community 

outreach.”115 Candidate Eight was the first candidate to be proposed with an enforceable 

contract in place, though the agency would not post a vacancy announcement for the Decennial 

Position for over 200 days.116  

113 Case File No. 13. 
114 Case File No. 12. 
115 Case File No. 89 (attachment).  
116 Id.  

On March 18, 2014, the Headhunter e-mailed both the Director and Executive a résumé and 

information on Candidate Nine.117 OIG did not locate a response from the Director or 

Executive to this e-mail, and the Headhunter followed up on March 24, inquiring whether either 

had had a chance to review the submission.118 The OIG did not locate an e-mail response to the 

Headhunter’s March 24 e-mail from either the Executive or Director, though the Headhunter’s 

tracking spreadsheet included the comment “No” under the “Resolution Start Date” heading.119 

117 Case File No. 40. 
118 Id. 
119 Case File No. 89 (attachment).   

On March 26, the Headhunter proposed Candidate Ten, a senior executive with a large private 

company. The record shows that the Director and Executive had lunch with Candidate Ten on 

April 9,120 but that he later declined to be considered further, citing what would be a significant 

pay cut to leave the private sector.121 

120 Case File No. 75. 
121 Case File No. 76. 

X. The Headhunter Identifies Candidate Eleven  

On May 5, 2014, the Headhunter e-mailed the Executive and Director a biography and résumé 

for Candidate Eleven,  

Attached is the resume and bio [of Candidate Eleven.] She has very recently left [private sector 

company] to do something "meaningful". I discussed with her the salary range of the position. 

She is okay with that. She would be taking a major cut from what she was making at [private 

sector company] but salary is not her driving factor in this.122 

122 Case File No. 43.  

According to the résumé submitted by the Headhunter, Candidate Eleven had experience as a 

senior executive in the information science field and as a private sector consultant.123 On the 

                                                           

123 Case File No. 72. 
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same day, the Executive wrote that “she is definitely worth talking to,”124 and the Headhunter 

responded by noting that “I think she would be better served by coming to Washington for [a] 

face-to-face meeting rather than a soulless phone call.”125 

124 Case File No. 23. 
125 Case File No. 43. 

Two days later, on May 7, 2014, the Headhunter followed up with a second e-mail to the 

Executive, asking whether the Director had had a chance to review Candidate Eleven’s résumé, 

and stating that “[s]he has just left [private sector company] and we probably want to get her 

full attention before someone else does.”126 Following this, the Senior Employee contacted 

Candidate Eleven to schedule a videoconference meeting with the Executive and Director, 

which appears to have taken place on May 23.127 According to the Director, he believed 

Candidate Eleven “seemed like a very, very knowledgeable person in the area of IT because 

she'd been working at [private sector company] and had been leading some innovation and 

change there.”128 

126 Case File No. 45. 
127 Case File No. 58. 
128 Director Tr. at 2035-37. 

The Director told the OIG that, after the meeting, he and the Executive “thought it might be 

good to get . . . some insights from her on what we were doing” with respect to data and IT 

practices.129 The Executive told the OIG that she said to the Director,  

129 Id. at 2038-39. 

Let's bring her in, have her meet with the associate directors, get a sense of what we're doing, and 

she can give us some feedback, because even if we end up not hiring her, she has this great expertise 

that we could probably take advantage of.130  

130 Executive Tr. at 1435-36. 

XI. Candidate Eleven Visits the Census Bureau 

Shortly thereafter, in preparation for Candidate Eleven’s visit to Census later that month, the 

Senior Employee e-mailed a final agenda to nine individuals on Census’s leadership team and 

requested that each of them provide their latest biographies so that they could be given to 
Candidate Eleven.131 On the same day, the Senior Employee e-mailed the Executive edits to the 

Census FY 2015 Budget presentation that the Senior Employee would be sharing with 

Candidate Eleven for “background and overview purposes.”132  

131 Case File No. 61. 
132 Case File No. 62; Case File No. 74.  

Candidate Eleven visited the Washington, DC area over two days in June 2014 and spent her 

time meeting with senior executive officials from Census and the Department. Candidate 

Eleven’s visit was paid for by Census, and the arrangements were coordinated in part by the 

Senior Employee.133 Candidate Eleven’s visit was not presented as being related to her potential 

candidacy for the Decennial Position, but as an informational briefing on the agenda sent to the 

                                                           

133 CMS Doc. No. 38; Director Tr. at 2054-56. 
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candidates for the Decennial Position.144 As noted below, the Senior Appointee was the final 

selecting official of record for the Decennial Position.145  

144 Id. at 896-98. 
145 Case File No. 90.  

 
B. The Purpose of Candidate Eleven’s Visit 

When the OIG asked the Director about the purpose of Candidate Eleven’s visit, he stated that 

she was not brought to Census on a “recruiting trip” but to provide an informational briefing to 

Census.146 The Director then told the OIG that, while the primary purpose of Candidate 

Eleven’s trip to Census was to have her provide expertise, the secondary purpose of the trip 

was to evaluate her as a possible candidate for the Decennial Position.147  

146 Director Tr. at 2004-07. 
147 Id. at 2133-35.  

The OIG also asked the Executive about the purpose of Candidate Eleven’s trip, and she 

explained that it was “to take advantage of [Candidate Eleven’s] expertise.”148 The Executive 

denied that there was a secondary purpose for the trip related to the Decennial Position, but 

admitted that Candidate Eleven spoke to her, the Director, and another senior official about 

the position when they took her out to dinner, noting that she thought Candidate Eleven was 

“trying to determine whether she wanted to apply or not.”149  

148 Executive Tr. at 1486-89.  
149 Id. at 1549. 

The OIG presented this question to the Senior Employee as well, who noted she understood 

that the purpose of the visit was not related to Candidate Eleven’s potential candidacy for the 

Decennial Position.150 The Senior Employee stated that the Executive and Director told her that 

Candidate Eleven came to Census for the informational briefing.151  

150 Senior Employee Tr. II at 1232-36. 
151 Id. at 1251-52, 1258-59.  

The OIG also asked the Senior Appointee whether the purpose of Candidate Eleven’s visit was 

to meet with him and the Director to discuss the Decennial Position, to which he replied, 

It was one of the reasons. I don’t know if it was the only reason. That I don’t know. I was just 

told, hey, you know, we’ve identified this person who, you know, might be a great asset to our 

organization given that it’s a pretty senior position.152 

152 Senior Appointee Tr. at 654-58. 

C. The Headhunter’s Records Indicate that Candidate Eleven Had Received the Job 

In June of 2014, one day after Candidate Eleven’s visit to Census, the Headhunter e-mailed the 

Director’s personal e-mail, asking, 

Obviously I am quite interested in how things went. Could you drop me a note? Or should we 

set up a time to talk?153 

                                                           

153 Case File No. 73. 
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The Director responded to the Headhunter’s e-mail later the same day, explaining that “[i]t 

would be good to find a time for both [the Executive] and I to talk with you.”154 According to 

the e-mails provided by the Director to the OIG, it appears that this was the last 

communication between the Director and the Headhunter using the Director’s personal e-mail 

account.  

154 Id.   

The Headhunter told the OIG that, after Candidate Eleven’s visit, the Director told him that 

Candidate Eleven was “the one.”155 The Headhunter told the OIG that he interpreted this 

statement to mean that Candidate Eleven was the “top candidate” and “it was going to be hard 

for somebody to beat her.”156 The Headhunter admitted, however, that he understood that if 

someone better came along, the Director would hire that person instead of Candidate 

Eleven.157  

155 Headhunter Tr. II at 281. 
156 Id. at 289-91. 
157 Id. at 291-93.  

In an e-mail to the OIG, the Director stated,  

I may very well have said "She's the one" to [the Headhunter.]  I can't recall if I did, but I can't 

rule it out. However, it was intended to mean that we should move forward with the [Senior 

Executive Service] process. I am also sure that I made it clear to him that this was a highly 

competitive process, etc.158 

158 CMS Doc. No. 48. 

The Headhunter also told the OIG during an interview in July 2014, about one month after 

Candidate Eleven’s trip to Census, that the Director had already told her that he wanted her 

“to take the job.”159  

159 Headhunter Tr. I at 493-94. 

OIG: Where is [the hiring] process at now?  Is there -- 

HEADHUNTER: The process is, they have -- uh, he has told the person [Candidate Eleven] 

he wants her to take the job. Uh, she can’t start basically until the new year, which is fine by 

[the Director.] That worked out well with him. And, um, all ready to go.160 

160 Id. at 492-97. 

The Headhunter also told the OIG that Candidate Eleven had planned to take off “the next 

three or four months” after resigning from her private sector job.161 He indicated that the 

timing of the new job for Candidate Eleven “was perfect,” noting that the Director wanted to 

fill the position by 2015.162  

161 Id. at 538-39. 
162 Id. at 541-42.  

                                                           

The second excerpt of the Headhunter’s tracking sheet is included in Table 6 below. In the 

status column for Candidate Eleven, the Headhunter wrote “HIRED Start 1/1/2014,”163 though 

he later told the OIG that he meant to write “1/1/2015.”164 Notably, the document’s properties 

163 Case File No. 89 (attachment).  
164 Headhunter Tr. II at 101-03. 
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indicated that it was last modified in July 2014, three months before the vacancy announcement 

for the Decennial Position was eventually posted in late October 2014.  

Table 6. Second Excerpt from Headhunter’s Tracking Sheet on Candidates165 

165 The table also indicates that Candidate Twelve was presented on May 22, before Candidate Eleven’s trip to DC, 

but did not progress any farther. 

Candidate Client Date Sent Sent To Position Resolution Start Date

[Candidate Eight] US Census March 3 2014 [the Director] Not enough community outreach

[Candidate Nine] US Census March 18 2014 [the Director] No

[Candidate Ten] US Census March 26 2014 [the Director] Too expensive

[Candidate Eleven] US Census May 5 2014 [the Director] HIRED Start 1/1/2014

[Candidate Twelve] US Census May 22 2014 [the Director] No  
 
When the OIG showed the Director the portion of the table represented above, he remarked, 

“I don't know where [the Headhunter] got that. I haven't the faintest idea what [he] was 

thinking.”166 The Director told the OIG that “I did not tell [the Headhunter] at any time that 

[Candidate Eleven] would be hired.”167 The Director did report, however, that he told the 

Headhunter that he did not need to continue sending him candidates.168 After Candidate 

Eleven’s visit to Census, even though almost 70 days of performance remained on the contract, 

the Headhunter did not present any additional candidates to Census per the Director’s 

direction.169  

166 Director Tr. at 2416-17. 
167 Id. at 2452-53. 
168 Id. at 2485-86.  
169 Headhunter Tr. I at 2085-90; Case File No. 89 (attachment); Director Tr. at 2460-65.  

D. Census Posts a Vacancy Announcement 

In September 2014, the Decennial Position became vacant.170 Census publicly posted a job 

announcement for the position in late October 2014 and accepted applications through late 

November.171 Following its normal practice, Census provided the announcement to a group of 

diverse professional organizations and posted the announcement on social media sites.172 

According to a Census staffing report, 21 individuals applied for the position.173 The 21 

candidates were evaluated by a human resources official, who determined which were minimally 

qualified, and advanced several to a panel of officials, one of whom previously met with 

Candidate Eleven.174  

170 Case File No. 69. 
171 Case File No. 64. 
172 CMS Doc. No. 97. 
173 Case File No. 70.   
174 CMS Doc. No. 97; see also Table 5. 

After these evaluations, Candidate Eleven and one other candidate were forwarded to an 

“interview panel” comprising Census officials. Two of the three interview panel members had 

previously met with Candidate Eleven during the June trip. The interview panel advanced both 

of the candidates to the Executive and Director for an additional round of interviews.  
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The OIG's investigation found that Census's treatment of Candidate Eleven was different in 
several respects from how other cand idates were treated by Census. Those differences are 
outlined in the table below. 

Paid travel to Census Yes 
Meetings with Census officials with a role in the Yes 
hirin recess 
Meetin with Senior A ointee Yes 
Opportunitv to draft a report on Census for Yes 
leadershi f75 

E. Vacancy Announcement Delay 

No 

No 
No 

Even though the Director, in consultation with the Executive, had determined that new 
leadership was needed in the Decennial Position in September 20 13, and despite the purported 
urgency set forth in both the Special Notice and Justification Document, 176 Census did not post 
a vacancy announcement for the Decennial Position until late October 2014. This is over one 
year after they determined that new leadership was needed and approximately nine months 
after publication of Census's acquisition documents. 

When the OIG asked the Director why it took Census more than a year to post the vacancy 
announcement, he responded that he did not know why, suggesting only that "it takes a long 
time in the government to get things done." 177 The O IG asked the D irector whether he had 
told anyone that he was willing to accommodate Candidate Eleven's schedule when posting the 
vacancy announcement, to wh ich he replied, "I could have said that because it's been ... 
delayed, she does have some flexibility in her schedule. So that should be okay."178 

F. Census's Decision to Not Select Candidate Eleven 

Census did not ultimately select Candidate Eleven for the Decennial Position, opting for 
another individual not identified by the Headhunter.179 As a resu lt, the Headhunter was not paid 
under the terms of his contract. 

175 Director Tr. at 2005-06. After meeting with Census officials, Candidate Eleven was asked to prepare a report 
on the state of innovation and technology at the agency. 
176 Case File No. 15 at 2. The Justification Document stated that "the amount of time and funds required to fulfill 
this Executive Recruitment requirement by any other source that could not guarantee success would cause an 
unacceptable delay in the Census Bureau's ability to fu lfill its mission." Id. 
m DirectorTr. at 1876-77. 
178 Id. at 2372-74. 
179 In response to a draft version of the OIG's report, the Director's private counsel requested that the OIG 
remove the portion of the report related to Candidate Eleven, as OIG's report "makes no findings concerning the 
Director's conduct following the award of the contract with the Headhunter." The OIG included this portion of 
the narrative in the report because it illustrates the Headhunter's work after a contract was in place, and suggests 
that Candidate Eleven received an advantage not given to other candidates. However, the OIG found insufficient 
evidence to conclude that Census officials vio lated federal hiring rules. 

30 OIG CASE FILE NO. 14-0408 
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Candidate Eleven told the OIG that she was surprised and disappointed that she did not receive 

the position. The OIG had received information indicating that, because she believed that she 

would be offered the position, Candidate Eleven’s significant other had found a job in the DC 

area (they lived in another region of the country) and she was preparing to sign a lease on a DC 

area residence.  The OIG asked Candidate Eleven whether she had been led to believe by the 

Director or the Executive that she would be receiving an offer for the Decennial Position. 

Candidate Eleven told the OIG that she “preferred not to answer that” because she “did not 

want to get [anyone] in trouble.”180 

180 CMS Doc. No. 38.  

The Director and Executive both reported being made aware of the OIG’s investigation by 

Census employees interviewed as part of the investigation. For example, the Senior Acquisition 

Official told the OIG that, on August 14, 2014, he talked with the Executive and another senior 

official about his interview, which covered issues related to the Headhunter’s contract.181 Soon 

after, on August 26, 2014, the other senior official with whom the Senior Acquisition Official 

spoke forwarded an OIG request for information on SES vacancy announcements to the 

Executive and another official, noting that he had “no more information currently about an IG 

investigation about the SES program, but . . . wanted you to be aware of the OIG's request.”182  

181 Case File No. 93. 
182 Case File No. 92. 

Nevertheless, both the Director and Executive denied that the OIG’s investigation had an 

impact on their deliberations about whom to select for the Decennial Position. The Director 

acknowledged that he and the Executive discussed the OIG’s investigation when they were 

considering whether to pick Candidate Eleven for the position, but explained that the Executive 

asked him to think about who they would have selected if the OIG investigation had not 

occurred.183 The Director told the OIG that he responded, “I’d pick [the person who was 

selected (over Candidate Eleven)]. . . . [That person] is obviously the best one.”184 

  

                                                           

183 Director Tr. at 2823-24. 
184 Id. at 2825-28.  
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Chapter 3: Analysis and Findings 
 

The evidence in this matter established that Census officials failed to comply with numerous 

rules and regulations during the procurement process. These findings are discussed in detail 

below.  

I. The Acceptance of Voluntary Services from the Headhunter Implicates the 

Antideficiency Act 

By Department policy, the Office of General Counsel makes determinations about whether 

employee actions constitute violations of the Antideficiency Act.185 While the facts in this 

matter implicate the ADA, the OIG will provide relevant materials to the Office of General 

Counsel to make a determination regarding whether the ADA was violated. Nevertheless, the 

evidence related to the Director’s acceptance of voluntary services for a period of three 

months before the contract was awarded implicates 31 U.S.C. § 1342, which prohibits federal 

employees from accepting services contributed on a voluntary basis.  

185 The Antideficiency Act places ultimate responsibility for determining whether a violation of that law has 

occurred and then reporting any violation with the “head of the agency.” Accordingly, the Department’s 

Accounting Principles and Standards Handbook states that “a determination concerning liability” under the ADA 

“is within the province of the Department’s Office of General Counsel.” 

According to the Director’s e-mails, the Headhunter’s business records, and their sworn 

testimony, the Headhunter searched for possible candidates for the Decennial Position and sent 

résumés to the Director for three months before the contract was awarded in mid-February 

2014. In total, the Headhunter submitted at least seven candidates before the contract was 

awarded, and the Headhunter and the Director exchanged at least 25 e-mails and spoke on the 

telephone on several occasions regarding the Headhunter’s search for candidates. Notably, the 

services rendered by the Headhunter before and after contract award were the same, which is 

reflected in the identical nature of the materials submitted by the Headhunter (Appendix A 

includes examples of the Headhunter’s candidate submissions on his firm’s letterhead both 

before and after contract award). The Headhunter received no compensation for his work 

activities during this time, and no enforceable contract existed that would have allowed him to 

be paid.186 As such, the Headhunter’s work during this time constituted voluntary services.  

186 The record also reflects that the Director understood that the services he was receiving from the Headhunter 

were voluntary in nature. In response to the OIG’s draft report, the Director’s counsel noted that the Director 

had no expectation “that any payment would be made to the Headhunter for any services if the Director identified 

a candidate before a contract was awarded.” Appendix D. Regardless of whether the Headhunter actually could 

have been paid, the Director’s assertion about his belief indicates that he understood that the services being 

contributed were voluntary. 

The record also reflects that the Director actively accepted the Headhunter’s services and 

encouraged him to continue providing those services in the absence of an enforceable contract. 

In response to a draft version of this report from the Director’s private counsel, he contested 

this conclusion, noting that “the Director did not ask the Headhunter to begin sending 
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resumes,” and that the Headhunter’s submissions prior to contract award were “unsolicited.”187 

However, this assertion is belied by the evidence. First, on October 21, 2013, the Director sent 

an e-mail to the Headhunter, writing “I determined that we can engage your services,”188 after 

which the Headhunter began proposing candidates. Second, the Director did not tell the 

Headhunter to stop sending résumés—he encouraged him to continue providing his services by 

evaluating the candidates and providing feedback on the candidates submitted. For example, on 

November 17, one day after receiving the Headhunter’s e-mail about Candidate One, the 

Director responded, stating “I’m not sure if he is the one, but it’s an amazing start. I'll share this 

with a few folks and get back with you.”189 Later, on December 8, 2013, after the Headhunter 

proposed Candidates Two and Three, the Director wrote that “They are close, I think the best 

is [Candidate Three.] However, I'm looking for someone who has a little more experience in 

incorporating IT into operational practices. That is, a little more of an operations research 

background in the IT arena.” In another example, on February 10, 2014, the Headhunter e-

mailed the Director stating that “I'd like to keep the search moving, but I need a bit of 

feedback,” referring to several candidates he had already proposed. The Director responded by 

providing his feedback on the candidates, writing “[Candidate Six] is a good academic, but I 
don't think she has the management experience to do the job I'm looking at.”190 The Director’s 

feedback to the Headhunter demonstrated that he understood that the Headhunter had started 

providing executive search services, and that he was accepting and evaluating the Headhunter’s 

work product and providing him with feedback to encourage him to continue the search.191     

The evidence also suggests that the Director may have accepted the Headhunter’s services 

while knowing it was not allowed. The Director’s request that the Headhunter switch from 

government to personal e-mail suggests that he understood that working with the Headhunter 

prior to contract award was improper. Further, when the Director requested the switch to 

personal e-mail, he provided his reasoning—his government e-mail “was public information,” 

                                                           
187 Even in the case where services are unsolicited, their acceptance would still fall within the scope of the 

definition of “voluntary services” as defined by Department of Commerce policy.  Specifically, Departmental 

Administrative Order (DAO) 202-311, Section 2, defines a voluntary service as a “service provided by any person 

on their own initiative without a formal request.” 
188 Case File No. 55. 
189 Case File No. 36. 
190 Case File No. 73. 
191 In response to a draft version of this report, the Director’s counsel argued that “certainly it cannot be improper 

acceptance of ‘voluntary services’. . . to reach out and actively solicit names for possible positions.” However, the 

evidence in the records indicates more than a casual or fleeting acceptance of possible candidates for the 

Decennial Position.  First, the interactions between the Headhunter and the Director were not of a casual 

nature—they took place within the context of a potential contract being awarded. While the Headhunter was 

proposing the first seven candidates, the Senior Employee and the Acquisition Specialist were working on creating 

a sole source award to him. Second, the candidates were not being proposed by a personal friend or colleague, but 

by someone whose business it is to propose candidates for payment. The Headhunter is routinely paid for such 

proposals, and he told the OIG that he had an expectation that he would have been paid if he had found the right 

candidate prior to having a contract awarded. Headhunter Tr. at 1520-54.  
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indicating his concern that their communications could be publicly discovered. 192 In fact, when 

the OIG asked the Director if he switched to the use of personal e-mail because Census did 

not have a contract in place, he acknowledged that “it was about that level.”193 On December 8, 

2013, after the Director e-mailed the Headhunter to inform him that he had a personal e-mail 

account, he exchanged at least 25 e-mails with the Headhunter prior to the launch meeting for 

the contract. After the launch meeting took place, the Director’s e-mail exchange with the 

Headhunter switched back to government e-mail and ceased over personal e-mail for several 

months. Thus, the facts demonstrate that the Director understood that his conduct may have 

been improper.  

192 In response to the OIG’s draft report, the Director’s counsel explained that the reason he requested the switch 

to personal e-mail was “to comply with the rules governing emails,” and not to attempt to hide improper conduct. 

The counsel explained that his communications with the Headhunter prior to having a contract in place were not 

official government business. The OIG does not credit this explanation. The Director and the Headhunter did not 

discuss personal matters in the e-mails reviewed by the OIG, only recruiting for the Decennial Position. In fact, in 

the response to the OIG’s draft report, the Director’s counsel noted that “the relationship between the Director 

and the Headhunter was purely professional.” Appendix D. Further, the communications dealt with a hiring effort 

for a critical Census position, which is official government business.  
193 Director Tr. at 1171.  

Accordingly, the totality of the evidence suggests that the Headhunter provided voluntary 

services for a period of three months and that the Director accepted those services while 

understanding it to be improper. Although the Office of General Counsel is authorized to 

determine whether a violation occurred, the evidence clearly implicates the Antideficiency Act.   

II. The Director Did Not Comply with Department Policy by Receiving Services 

from the Headhunter Without a Contract in Place 

The evidence established that the Director created an unauthorized commitment by accepting 

services from the Headhunter without a contract in place and thus did not comply with 

Department of Commerce acquisition policy.194 The Commerce Acquisition Manual (CAM) 

states that unauthorized commitments occur when the Department “accepts goods or services 

in the absence of an enforceable contract entered into by an individual with delegated 

contracting authority.”195  

194 FAR 1.602 defines an “unauthorized commitment” in a different manner than the Department policy, and OIG 

found that the Director’s actions did not meet the requirements specified in that section.  
195 CAM 1301.602, § 1.1. 

As described in the previous section, the evidence showed that, through the Director’s actions, 

the Census Bureau accepted services from the Headhunter in the absence of an enforceable 

contract. As a result, we concluded that Census did not comply with the plain language of 

Section 1.1 of CAM 1301.602.  

Section 2.3 of CAM 1301.602 explains that “[u]nauthorized commitments may be considered 

matters of serious misconduct and may subject the responsible employees to appropriate 
disciplinary actions.”196 In making this finding, we note that the Director apparently understood 

that the Headhunter’s work without a contract was not allowed. In his OIG interview, the 

Director explained that it was his awareness that the contract had not been awarded that 

                                                           

196 CAM 1301.602, § 2.3.  
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prompted him to request that the Headhunter communicate with him using personal e-mail, 

indicating that he understood that his acceptance of the Headhunter’s services without a 

contract in place was not appropriate.197  

197 Director Tr. at 1258-59. 

III. The Director Did Not Comply with Department Policy and NARA Guidance 

by Using Personal E-mail to Conduct Official Government Business 

Department of Commerce policy prohibits the use of personal e-mail for official Department 

business. A Department memorandum titled “Use of Personal E-mail for Official 

Communication Prohibited” states in pertinent part,   

DOC employees and contractors are reminded that all official DOC e-mail communications 

must be made using their assigned DOC e-mail account. Official DOC e-mail communications 

are defined as any transfer of . . . writing . . . for the intended purpose of supporting DOC 

missions and objectives. Use of personal e-mail accounts for official communications is prohibited.198   

198 Case File No. 66, Mem. Use of Personal E-mail for Official Communication Prohibited, May 28, 2013, available at 

As discussed above, from December 9, 2013 through February 28, 2014, the Director 

exchanged at least 25 e-mails with the Headhunter using his personal e-mail account. In all of 

these e-mails, the Director and Headhunter discussed various candidates the Headhunter had 

proposed in order to fill the Decennial Position at the Census Bureau. According to Census, 

the Headhunter’s work was “critical to the Bureau’s mission.”199 Thus, the evidence established 

that these e-mail communications were “for the intended purpose of supporting DOC missions 

and objectives,” and that the Director’s use of his personal e-mail to conduct this official 

business violated Department policy.  

In making this finding, we note that the evidence showed that the Director’s intent was to avoid 

the very disclosure principles supporting the Department’s e-mail policy. For instance, when the 

OIG asked the Director about his use of personal e-mail and whether it would ever be 

permissible, the Director replied, “I wouldn’t think so.”200 In his December 9, 2013 e-mail to 

the Headhunter, the Director stated that the reason he wanted to move their discussion to his 

personal e-mail was because his “government e-mail is public information.”201 As noted above, 

the Director told the OIG that he was concerned about these e-mails being publicly disclosed 

because Census did not have a contract in place with the Headhunter.202 The OIG concluded 

that the Director understood that his government e-mail could be disclosed to the public, and 

took steps to avoid that.  

                                                           

https://connection.commerce.gov/policy/20140528/policy-memos (emphasis added).  
199 Case File No. 16 at 1 (“The Census Bureau needs support services in the search of candidates to fill prospective 

Senior Executive Level positons whose fulfillment is critical to the Bureau’s mission.”).  
200 Director Tr. at 1140-41.  
201 Case File No. 34. 
202 Director Tr. at 1258-59.  
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In addition, the National Archives and Records Administration provides guidance to federal 

agencies and employees on the management and preservation of federal records.203 NARA 

guidance recognizes that “agency employees should not generally use personal e-mail accounts 

to conduct official agency business” unless authorized to do so under official agency policy (for 

example, in an emergency).204 According to the guidance, when an employee does use his or 

her personal e-mail to conduct official agency business, a federal record may be created.205 

NARA guidance further provides that, if an employee creates a federal record, the employee 

who created the record must ensure that it is “captured and managed in accordance with 

agency recordkeeping practices.”206   

203 44 U.S.C. § 3301. “Federal records” are defined as “documentary materials, regardless of physical form or 

characteristics, made or received by an agency of the United States Government under Federal law or in 

connection with the transaction of public business and preserved or appropriate for preservation by that agency or 

its legitimate successor as evidence of the organization, functions, policies, decisions, procedures, operations, or 

other activities of the Government or because of the informational value of data in them.”   
204 NARA Bulletin 2013-03.  
205 Id.  
206 Id.  In November 2014, the Federal Records Act was amended to require that federal employees who create a 

federal record using a non-official electronic messaging account forward a complete copy of the record no later 

than 20 days after the original creation or transmission of the record. See 44 U.S.C. § 2911 (discussing same). 

However, this law was not in effect during the time of the Director’s e-mail exchange with the Headhunter. 

In this case, there is no dispute that the Director’s use of personal e-mail was not authorized 

under Department policy. Moreover, the evidence indicates that the Director’s e-mails with the 

Headhunter constituted federal records because they involved the transaction of government 

business and were appropriate for preservation as evidence of the decisions, procedures, 

operations and other activities of the Census Bureau. While the Director pointed to his 

decision to retain the e-mails as evidence of his desire to maintain them for recordkeeping 

purposes, he made no attempt to ensure that they were “captured and managed” in accordance 
with the Department’s policies. 207

207 Director Tr. at 1221-22.  

 Accordingly, the evidence showed that the Director failed to 

follow NARA guidance by using his personal e-mail to conduct official government business and 

failed to manage those records properly.  

In making these findings concerning the Director’s conduct related to this procurement, we 

note that we credited his statements to the OIG that he was motivated by a desire to find the 

best person for the Census Bureau and to conduct the search in a cost-effective manner.  We 

also note that the Director cooperated fully with the OIG’s investigation, including in his 

responses to questions during an investigative interview and providing e-mails from his personal 

account upon the OIG’s request. 

IV. Census Did Not Comply with CICA and the FAR When It Awarded a Sole 

Source Contract to the Headhunter 

Both CICA and the FAR mandate that federal contracts be awarded based on full and open 

competition unless a statutory exception applies. The statutory exception Census relied on to 

justify its sole source award to the Headhunter was that the services required were “available 

from only one responsible source and no other type of service [would] satisfy the Census 
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Bureau’s requirement.”208 There is no evidence that the Census Bureau rejected any firms as 

not “responsible,”209 and therefore, the sole issue before the OIG was whether the headhunting 

services sought by Census were so specialized that the Headhunter was the only firm capable 

of providing those services. 

208 Case File No. 15 at 1; see also Case File No. 16 at 2 (citing CICA and FAR 6.302-1).  
209 “Responsible” is a term of art in federal government contracting and is defined at FAR 9.104-1.  

The overwhelming weight of evidence contradicts Census’s purported justification that the 

Headhunter was the only firm that could provide the necessary recruiting services. As 

discussed in more detail in Section V below, the Senior Employee’s actions had the effect of 

preventing the competition required by CICA and the FAR. When the OIG compared the 

Senior Employee’s determinations about the qualifications of the other offerors with their 

submissions, it appeared that the Senior Employee acted with the intent to avoid the 

competitive process.  

The services Census was seeking—executive search services—are widely available in the 

commercial marketplace. Consistent with this fact, both the Director and Executive told the 

OIG that they believed there were other headhunting firms capable of performing the search. 

The Director stated that the reason he recommended the Headhunter was because he had 

worked with him previously and knew that he would work on a contingency-fee basis.210 
According to the Director, his recommendation was not based on any unique skills or 

experience. To the contrary, when asked whether other headhunting firms could have 

performed the search, the Director stated,  

210 Director Tr. at 182-83; 218-19.  

Yeah, we could -- we could have hired [name of headhunting company Census awarded a sole 

source contract to in 2011], for example, and tried them again. I mean, there's lots of search 

companies.211 

211 Id. at 305-307.  

The Executive stated in her OIG interview that the Headhunter was attractive because he was 

willing to perform the work on a contingency-fee basis, not because he possessed any unique 

skills or capabilities.212 Like the Director, when the OIG asked whether she believed other firms 

were capable of performing the search, the Executive responded “[y]ou know, presumably. I 

mean, there's a lot of headhunters out there.”213 

                                                           

212 Executive Tr. at 248-52. We note that, while the nature of his fee structure could be a factor in the 

government’s consideration of cost, it is irrelevant to its consideration of whether the firm is the only source 

capable of performing the work. Even if his contingency-fee structure were a consideration in the capability 

determination, the OIG found no evidence that this fee structure was unique.  Indeed, Census stated in the 

Justification Document that the Headhunter would “employ the standard industry practice of 25 percent fee, based 

on the value of the salary of the recruitment,” thereby affirmatively representing that there was nothing special or 

“unique” about his fee. Furthermore, at least one of the firm’s found by the Acquisition Specialist (Firm E) also 

appeared to work on a 19 percent contingency fee according to its GSA Schedule contract. So while the 

Headhunter’s 25 percent contingency-fee structure may have presented the “best value” to the Government 

(something Census will never know since it failed to compete the work or impartially consider other potential 

offerors), it does not provide support for the exception Census used to justify its sole source award to the 

Headhunter.  
213 Id. at 676-77.  



 U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE   OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 

38    OIG CASE FILE NO. 14-0408 

We also note that testimony from the Headhunter himself undermines Census’s justification 

that his firm was the only firm capable of conducting the search. In particular, when asked why 

the Director picked him to perform the search, the Headhunter told the OIG that he believed 

other firms could “probably” provide the same services, but the Director knew that he would 

keep the search quiet. 214 

214 Headhunter Tr. I  at 1820-21; 2207-08  

Moreover, as described above, the Acquisition Specialist identified six firms to the Senior 

Employee that she believed would be “a good fit” to meet Census’s needs.215 Although the 

Senior Employee rejected all six of these firms as incapable, the OIG’s analysis established that 

at least three of them were capable of performing the search. As discussed in more detail 

below, these three firms had demonstrated experience conducting executive-level searches in 

the statistical, survey, research and education fields and unlike the Headhunter, had performed 

executive recruitment searches for the federal government. (The OIG’s review of the evidence 

suggested that the Senior Employee did not evaluate these six firms impartially and without 

preference, which is discussed in greater detail below.)   

215 Acquisition Specialist Tr. at 436-38.  

Likewise, the OIG’s analysis of the seven firms that submitted capability statements in response 

to Census’s Special Notice established that at least two of those firms were capable of 
performing the executive search for Census. As discussed in more detail below, both of the 

firms the Senior Employee rejected had demonstrated extensive experience conducting 

executive-level recruitment in the statistical, survey, research and education fields, including for 

the federal government. (As with the Senior Employee’s rejection of the six firms, the OIG’s 

review of the evidence suggested that the Senior Employee did not evaluate these seven firms 

impartially and without preference.)   

While the OIG’s analysis established that at least five of the thirteen other firms were capable 

of performing the recruitment services, we also note that neither the Justification Document 

nor contract file supports Census’s contention that the Headhunter was the only source 

capable of performing the search. The evidence showed that the Justification Document 

contained inaccurate and unsupported statements, and the contract file—which contained only 

the Headhunter’s one-page “capability statement” and a two-page LinkedIn profile—did not 

contain sufficient information about the Headhunter to support Census’s claim that he was the 

only source capable of performing the search.  

Taken together—the commercial nature of the services being acquired, the testimony from the 

Director, Executive, and Headhunter, the OIG’s identification of at least five other firms that 

could have performed these services, the inaccuracies in the Justification Document, and the 

insufficiency of the contract file—the evidence strongly supports that the Headhunter was not 

the only firm capable of conducting Census’s search for the Decennial Position. The record 

therefore refutes Census’s sole justification that the services required were “available from only 

one responsible source and no other type of service [would] satisfy the Census Bureau’s 

requirement.” Because Census did not cite a valid exception to CICA’s requirement that 

federal contracts be awarded based on full and open competition, we found that Census’s 

award of the contract to the Headhunter did not comply with CICA and the FAR. 
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V. The Senior Employee Did Not Comply with Federal Regulations in the 

Procurement Process that Led to the Contract Award to the Headhunter  

Federal regulations require that employees conduct government business in an impartial 

manner and avoid preferential treatment. The Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of 

the Executive Branch include basic obligations of public service, which require that:  

(1) employees put forth honest effort in the performance of their duties; and (2) employees act 

impartially and not give preferential treatment to any private organization or individual.216

216 5 C.F.R. § 2635.101(b)(5), (8).  

 

Similarly, in the procurement context, the FAR provides that “[g]overnment business shall be 

conducted in a manner above reproach and . . . with complete impartiality and with preferential 

treatment for none.”217

217 FAR 3.101-1.  

 

In this case, the evidence showed that the Senior Employee failed to comply with these 

provisions throughout the procurement process.218 In making this determination, we note that 

there is no evidence that the Senior Employee knew or had a previous relationship with the 

Headhunter, and she did not appear to be motivated by intent to improve his prospects by 

providing him with a business opportunity. To the contrary, we concluded that she took these 

actions because she believed that the Executive and the Director wanted the contract awarded 

to the Headhunter and she was simply affecting their desired outcome. The OIG also 

considered the fact that the Senior Employee was not an expert in contracting rules.219 

However, as described below, the OIG found that: 

218 In response to the OIG’s draft report, the Senior Employee’s counsel disputed that she had steered the 

contract to the Headhunter, explaining that “the Senior Employee was told what to do by her direct supervisors, 

and she appropriately followed that direction to the best of her ability.” However, when the OIG asked the 

Executive about the nature of her instructions to the Senior Employee concerning the award of the contract to the 

Headhunter, she stated that “I didn’t tell her she had to do it. I said, here’s a person that we wouldn’t have to pay; 

go work with Acquisitions and see if there’s a way that we can do this.” Executive Tr. at 499-502. The Director 

testified that, after learning that seven firms had submitted capability statements, he told the Senior Employee to 

“just do what’s right in dealing with this.” Director Tr. at 1724-25. The OIG found these statements to be credible 

and found no evidence that either had asked or implied that she should take improper actions to ensure the 

Headhunter would receive the award. In fact, when the OIG asked the Senior Employee whether she felt any 

pressure to reject the seven firms that submitted capability statements, she reported that she did not. Senior 

Employee Tr. I at 1593.  
219 When the OIG asked the Senior Employee whether she was familiar with the rules concerning sole source 

contracts, she responded, “No, I'm not the attorney for the agency.” Senior Employee Tr. I at 185.  

(1) the Senior Employee did not put forth honest effort or act impartially in evaluating 

the six firms identified by the Acquisition Specialist when she rejected at least three 

of them as not capable of performing the work;  

(2) the Senior Employee did not put forth honest effort or act impartially in evaluating 

the seven firms that submitted capability statements in response to Census's Special 

Notice when she rejected at least two of the firms as not capable of performing the 

work; and 
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(3) the Senior Employee acted with preference towards the Headhunter by relying on 

assertions from a Justification Document that had been used in a previous 

procurement to bolster his capability and ensure that he would receive the contract.  

The Senior Employee told the OIG that she rejected the six firms suggested by the Acquisition 

Specialist as not capable of performing the work because they did not have the experience or 

expertise necessary to meet the Census Bureau’s requirement—specifically, that “[t]he selected 

contractor must have extensive experience and expertise in the area of recruiting executive 

level candidates for and within the statistical/survey/research and education field, preferably for 

the public sector.”220 When the OIG asked the Senior Employee how she conducted her 

evaluation of these firms, she reported that she “went to the links” in the Acquisition 

Specialist’s email.221 As noted above, the Senior Employee did not document her evaluation 

process or its conclusion in writing.  

As discussed previously in the report, the OIG also reviewed the GSA supply schedule 

documents and archived websites for the six firms that the Senior Employee evaluated and 

found that at least three demonstrated that they were capable of fulfilling Census’s 

requirement, and that one of which—Firm D—appeared to have extensive experience in 
recruiting senior executives in the field of statistics.  

                                                           
220 Senior Employee Tr. 1 at 1680, 1683-85, 1688-89; Senior Employee Tr. II at 123-31 (quoting Special Notice, 

Case File No. 16).  
221 Senior Employee Tr. 1 at 1126-28.  
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describe her methodology in any detail suggests that her review was not thoroughly carried out 

with “honest effort.”224  

224 In the response from the Senior Employee’s counsel, she claimed that the Headhunter “offered a lower price 

than any other vendor.” Price is irrelevant to the consideration of whether a firm is capable of meeting the Census 

Bureau’s requirement.  But even if it were relevant, the claim that the Headhunter offered the lowest price is not 

supported by the evidence. The OIG’s review revealed that Firm E charged 19 percent of the selectee’s salary, as 

opposed to the Headhunter’s 25 percent. 

Similarly, the Senior Employee rejected the seven firms that submitted capability statements in 

response to Census’s Special Notice, finding all to be incapable of performing the search. Unlike 

the previous review, the Senior Employee memorialized this evaluation in a document titled 

Technical Assessment. In that document, she wrote that all seven firms failed to provide 

evidence of “extensive experience and expertise in the area of recruiting executive level 

candidates for and within the statistical, survey, and research and education fields, preferably for 

the public sector.”225 The Senior Employee also wrote that none of the seven firms provided 

“information related to having a proven record of accomplishment for networking, attracting 

and recruiting the best possible candidates within a high quality statistical, social science 

research, not for profit, and public interest background.” The Senior Employee’s Technical 

Assessment also stated that none of the seven firms were capable of “complet[ing] the work 

effectively and within the short time frame.”226 

225 Case File No. 17.  
226 Id. As discussed, Census’s statements regarding “immediate need” and “within the short time frame” are 

unsupported in light of the delay in posting the vacancy announcement.  

As shown in the table below, the OIG’s review of the seven firms’ submissions found that two 

of them, Firms 5 and 7, had conducted executive searches in the fields set forth in Census’ 
requirement and had demonstrated experience that was at least comparable to the 

Headhunter’s. 
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In addition, the record shows that she gave preferential treatment to the Headhunter by relying 

on assertions from a Justification Document that had been used in a previous procurement to 

bolster his capability. This document repeatedly noted that the Headhunter was uniquely 

qualified based on his “proven record of accomplishment” and “proven . . . success rate.”228 

However, there is no evidence that the Senior Employee—or anyone else at Census—had 

information regarding the Headhunter’s “proven record of accomplishment” or “success 

rates.”229 When the OIG asked the Senior Employee about these statements, she admitted that 

she had no specific knowledge of the Headhunter’s success rates, but instead, knew only from 

the Executive and Acquisition Specialist that he had performed recruiting work for two 

statistical survey research organizations and had been recommended by the Director.230 The 

OIG found that there was no publicly available information (such as a company website) from 

which the Senior Employee could have gained this information, the Senior Employee did not 

have any previous working relationship with the Headhunter, and she did not call the 

Headhunter’s references or discuss these topics with him.231 The Director, Executive, and 

Acquisition Specialist—the only other individuals who could have provided the information 

contained in the Justification Document—all confirmed to the OIG that they were not aware of 
the Headhunter’s record of accomplishment or success rates and could not have been the 

source of those assertions.232 The inclusion of these unsupported statements suggests that the 

Senior Employee gave preferential treatment to the Headhunter in order to avoid the 

competitive process and ensure that he would receive the award.233  

228 Case File No. 15.  
229 The OIG is not opining on the truth or validity of these statements, only that the Senior Employee and Census 

officials did not have any basis to assert them.  
230 Senior Employee Tr. I at 1223-25; Senior Employee Tr. II at 500-01.   
231 Senior Employee Tr. II at 549-52. 
232 Director Tr. at 422-24; 1480-99; Executive Tr. at 403-05; 412-14; Acquisition Specialist Tr. at 2021-33; 2061-68.   
233 The OIG found the unsupported statements concerning the Headhunter’s “proven record of accomplishment” 

particularly troubling in light of the fact that the Senior Employee expressly rejected the seven firms who had 

submitted capability statements on the grounds that they did not have such a “proven record of accomplishment.” 

Case File No. 17. In fact, many of the firms that submitted capability statements submitted voluminous proposals 

supporting their past performance records and capabilities, whereas the only information the Senior Employee had 

from the Headhunter was his one-page capability statement and his two-page LinkedIn profile.  

The record also shows that an inaccurate assertion was made related to the urgency and 

immediate need for executive search services. The Special Notice and Justification Document 

both cited Census’s “immediate need” for the Headhunter, noting that an “unacceptable delay” 

would result if Census used “any other source.”234 However, as previously noted, Census did 

not post a vacancy announcement for the Decennial Position until approximately nine months 

after these documents were published, suggesting that this language was also included to give 

undue preference to the Headhunter over the other firms.         

234 Case File No. 16 at 1; Case File No. 15 at 2.  

These inaccurate and unsupported statements appeared to originate from the previous 2011 

sole source justification.  Indeed, the Justification Document supporting the Headhunter’s sole 

source award is virtually identical to the justification written for a different headhunting firm 

awarded a sole source contract by Census in 2011 for virtually the same services.235 The 

                                                           

235 Compare Case File No. 15 with Case File No. 83. As noted above, the OIG did not review the 2011 sole source 

award made to a different headhunting firm.    
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“proven record of accomplishment” and “success rate” assertions discussed above appear to 

have been lifted verbatim from the sole source justification used in the 2011 procurement. 

Moreover, in describing how the Headhunter will conduct the search, the Justification 

Document purports to describe the Headhunter’s “established business model” of “dividing the 

search into five phases” and then lists those five phases.236 According to the 2011 sole source 

justification, the headhunter that was awarded the sole source contract in 2011 had the same 

“established business model” with the identical “five phases” as the Headhunter here.237 When 

the OIG asked the Senior Employee about this, she confirmed that the only part of the 

Headhunter’s business model she could recall discussing with him was his fee238 (which the 

Justification Document noted is the “standard industry practice of 25% fee, based on the value 

of the salary of the recruitment”).239 It seems clear that the Senior Employee simply cut and 

pasted this language directly from the 2011 justification document and made no effort to 

distinguish the Headhunter’s “proven record of accomplishment,” “success rate,” or 

“established business model” from that of the headhunting firm the Census Bureau awarded a 

sole source contract to in 2011. 

236 Case File No. 15.  
237 Case File No. 83.  
238 Senior Employee Tr. II at 852-58.  
239 Case File No. 15 at 2, Fair and Reasonable Cost. The “Market Research” and “Other Supporting Facts” sections 

of the Justification Document are also identical to the 2011 justification. Compare Case File No. 15 with Case File 

No. 83.  

Furthermore, the “Unique Qualifications” section of the Justification Document—which 
purports to describe why the Headhunter has qualities so different from other headhunting 

firms that he is the only source capable of performing the search—is virtually identical to the 

“Unique Qualifications” used to describe the other headhunting firm in the 2011 procurement. 

Indeed, both justification documents claim that the headhunting firms, 

undertake[ ] nationwide searches for a wide variety of organizations, including leading 

universities, research institutions, academic medical centers, foundations, cultural institutions, 

economic development organizations, human service agencies, and national advocacy groups. 

Most [of both headhunting firms’] clients [have] ties to education and science . . . as well as with 

socially responsible companies. These skills and experience are determined to be a perfect fit 

for this Government executive recruitment requirement. [Both headhunting firms’] approach to 

[executive recruitment] searches is simple but disciplined. [Both firms’] first step is to spend a 

great deal of time with the client, getting to know the organization, and creating through a 

collaborative process, a profile of the ideal candidate. [Both firms’] search process emphasizes 

in-depth interviewing and reference checking of candidates along with a thoughtful analysis of 

the fit between the client organization and candidate. The Census Bureau is convinced that this 

exact approach will result in a positive and successful outcome.240  

240 Compare 2014 Justification Document justifying sole-source award to the Headhunter (Case File No. 15) with 

2011 justification document justifying sole-source award to a different headhunting firm (Case File No. 83).  

Thus, contrary to justifying the sole source award to the Headhunter by demonstrating his 

uniqueness, it appears that the Senior Employee did not put forward honest effort, but instead, 

simply lifted these statements directly from the 2011 justification. (Appendix B to this report 
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provides a side-by-side comparison of the two justification documents discussed above.241) 

Taken together, this provides further evidence that the Senior Employee did not put forth 

honest effort or act impartially in her evaluation of the Headhunter’s capabilities.  

241 The only “unique qualifications” set forth in the 2014 Justification Document that were different from those 

listed in the 2011 justification document stated that the Headhunter had “expertise working with high quality 

statistical, social science research . . . and public interest organizations.”241 While this experience appears relevant 

to the recruitment services Census sought to procure, as discussed above, the OIG’s analysis established that the 

Headhunter is hardly the only recruitment firm to have experience and expertise performing executive searches 

for these types of organizations. The Justification Document goes on to state “that there are no other sources 

with the exact, unique skills and success rates demonstrated by [the Headhunter].” Of course, no company has the 

“exact, unique skills and success rates” of any other company. If this were the standard to justify sole source 

awards, arguably no contracts would ever have to be competed. The Justification Document concludes that the 

Headhunter is the “most capable to provide the mission critical services Census needs.” While Census and 

specifically the Director’s office is in the best position to determine which firm is “most capable” to perform the 

work, “most capable” is not the standard the agency must meet to circumvent CICA’s mandate to use full and 

open competition absent a statutory exception.  

The OIG recognizes that the Senior Employee appeared to be motivated to recruit the best 

candidate for the Decennial Position. The OIG also recognizes that the Senior Employee did 

not have expertise in acquisitions and contracting law. Nevertheless, federal employees are 

bound to abide by ethics regulations whether they are performing duties in their area of 

expertise. In sum, the OIG concluded that the Senior Employee did not act in a manner that 

was impartial and without preference and did not put forward honest effort in performing her 

official duties. Therefore, she failed to comply with federal regulations, including the Standards 

of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch and FAR 3.101-1. 

VI. Census’s Acquisition Division Failed to Perform its Oversight Function and 

Did Not Appropriately Advise the Director’s Office with Respect to the 

Acquisition  

Census’s Acquisition Division is responsible for ensuring that contract awards comply with 

CICA, the FAR, and Department acquisition policy. The OIG’s investigation found that Census’s 

Acquisition Division failed to perform its oversight function by allowing an improper sole 

source contract to be awarded. 

The evidence established that the Acquisition Division failed to respond appropriately to 

numerous red flags, which should have signaled that a sole source award to the Headhunter 

was not proper. These red flags included that: (1) this was a request for executive search 

services that are widely available in the commercial marketplace; (2) the Director’s office had 

conducted no market research and had already selected a firm prior to working with the 

Acquisition Division; (3) the Acquisition Specialist identified six small businesses off the GSA 

Schedule that she thought could perform the work; (4) seven firms responded to the Special 

Notice, at least two of which were clearly capable of performing the search; (5) the Justification 

Document was essentially cut and pasted from a 2011 procurement for similar services 

awarded to a different headhunting firm on a sole source basis; and (6) an e-mail message from 

the Headhunter suggested that he had been performing search services for the Director’s office 

prior to contract award.  
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The Senior Acquisition Official also received an e-mail from the OS Senior Official advising 

Census that it should remove the Special Notice and stop the sole source process because 

there was a good chance a potential offeror would protest the award.242 There is no evidence 

that the Senior Acquisition Official responded to this e-mail or took any action whatsoever as a 

result. Given the fact that this e-mail came from a senior HR employee, and the contract was 

within the field of recruitment, it should have at least given the Senior Acquisition Official a 

reason to look into whether the award was justified.  In addition, the Acquisition Specialist also 

received an e-mail from a GSA contracting official advising her that numerous recruiting firms 

were available on two GSA schedules, though she also did not appear to take action in 

response.  

242 Case File No. 56.  

The evidence also suggested that the Senior Acquisition Official exercised poor judgment when 

he spoke to the Director about the procurement. Days after the Director first approached the 

Senior Acquisition Official about whether it would be possible to enter into a contract with the 

Headhunter on a contingency fee basis and followed up with a message providing the Senior 

Acquisition Official with the Headhunter’s name and e-mail address, the Senior Acquisition 

Official responded to the Director, “who should [our] staff work with to define what [name of 
the Headhunter] will be doing for us[?]”243 In this same e-mail, the Senior Acquisition Official 

told the Director that they still needed “to complete some kind of Statement of Work along 

with other documents to complete the procurement.”244 Although no market research had 

been done and no formal requirements for the contract had yet been defined (as the Senior 

Acquisition Official’s e-mail acknowledges), the Senior Acquisition Official’s e-mail suggests that 

he nevertheless presumed that the Headhunter would be performing the work for Census.  

243 Case File No. 44.  
244 Id.   

Moreover, there is no evidence showing that the Senior Acquisition Official ever advised the 

Director regarding the strong presumption in favor of competition and that a sole source 

award to the Headhunter would only be appropriate if the Headhunter was truly the only 

source capable of performing the work. The evidence further suggests that, had the Senior 

Acquisition Official provided this advice, the Director would have concluded that Census had to 

at least explore other headhunting firms and likely competed the award. In fact, the Director 

conveyed that concept repeatedly in his OIG interview, stating that he approached the Senior 

Acquisition Official at the outset because he wanted to ensure the procurement process was 

proper, stating “I depend on [the Senior Acquisition Official] and people in acquisition and the 

legal folks to do it right.”245  Similarly, the Senior Employee’s response to the draft OIG report 

stated that she “reasonably relied on the fact that [the Senior Acquisition Official and another 

acquisitions official] implicitly approved of the process.” 

                                                           

245 Director Tr. at 543-55.  
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With regard to the Acquisition Specialist, the evidence suggests that she could have exercised 

more diligence in ensuring that the contract was competed or otherwise awarded in 

accordance with the procurement rules. We base this on two principal facts: (1) it was an 

acquisition for services widely available in the commercial marketplace, and (2) it was apparent, 

based on the Acquisition Specialist’s market research and the capability statements received 

from the seven other firms, that there were other firms capable of performing the search. 

Despite these facts, the Acquisition Specialist signed the Justification Document, which 

supported the sole source award to the Headhunter. 246 When the OIG asked the Acquisition 

Specialist whether she would have been comfortable signing the contract, she stated “no” 

because she thought there were other companies who could have performed the work.247 

Further, the Acquisition Specialist admitted that it was ultimately her responsibility to tell the 

Director’s office they could not issue the contract as a sole source award if she believed there 

were other firms capable of performing the search.248  

246 See Case File No. 15.  
247 Acquisition Specialist Tr. at 1569-71.  
248 Id. at 1580-91. 

Moreover, as discussed above, on January 28, 2014, the Acquisition Specialist received an e-mail 

from the Headhunter indicating his urgency in getting the contract awarded because the 

Director was “starting to get interested in a candidate.”249 The Acquisition Specialist 
subsequently forwarded the e-mail to her supervisor, noting that there was “some interest” 

from the Director’s office to get the contract awarded as soon as possible.250 Yet the OIG 

found no evidence that either the Acquisition Specialist or her supervisor reacted to the fact 

that this e-mail suggested that the Headhunter had been performing work for the Director’s 

office without a contract in place, nor did the Acquisition Specialist or her supervisor do 

anything about it. This additional failure on the part of the Acquisition Division to exercise a 

basic oversight function—ensuring that work is not performed without a valid contract in 

place—is also cause for concern.  

                                                           

249 Case File No. 2.  
250 Id.   
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The OIG recognizes that the Acquisition Specialist’s conduct was mitigated by steps she did 

take, her cooperation throughout the OIG’s investigation, and the fact that the Senior 

Employee consistently provided materially inaccurate statements. Specifically, the evidence 

showed that the Acquisition Specialist questioned whether a sole source award was 

appropriate in these circumstances and took some steps to address that concern. For instance, 

she conducted market research and presented six other options to the Senior Employee in 

accordance with her duties as the Acquisition Specialist.251 The Acquisition Specialist explained 

the contracting process to the Senior Employee, advising her that, if any other firm was capable 

of performing the work, Census was obligated to compete the award or consider a streamlined 

acquisition approach using contractors available off the GSA Schedule.252 She also corresponded 

with the Senior Acquisition Official and her supervisor regarding the acquisition, asking for their 

advice and keeping them apprised of the procurement process. The evidence also showed that 

she met with the Attorney to ensure she had properly documented the sole source award.253 

We also note that the Senior Employee responded to the Acquisition Specialist with misleading 

and unsupported information—namely, that all other firms considered were incapable of 

performing the search and only the Headhunter could meet the Census Bureau’s needs.  
Nevertheless, the OIG ultimately concluded that the Acquisition Specialist did not do enough 

to ensure that the award to the Headhunter was made in accordance with acquisition rules and 

regulations. 

251 Case File No. 51.  
252 Case File No. 14; Case File No. 78.  
253 Acquisition Specialist Tr. 1783-1806.  

Based on the above, the OIG found that the Acquisition Division failed to perform its oversight 

function by allowing an improper sole source to be awarded. These failures by Census’s 

Acquisition Division are particularly troubling in light of the fact that this is the second sole 

source award for commercial headhunting services by Census Director’s office in the last few 

years, neither of which led to successful placement of a candidate.  

VII. Census Did Not Comply with Federal Regulations Governing the Use of 

Commercial Recruiting Firms 

The evidence suggests that Census failed to comply with regulations that govern how federal 
agencies are to contract and work with commercial recruiting firms. For example, 5 C.F.R. 

§ 300.405 requires that a written contract be awarded in order to engage the services of a 

recruiting firm and that certain language be included in that contract specifying the positions 

being recruited. 5 C.F.R. § 300.403 identifies the conditions when commercial recruiting firms 

may be used. As described below, the record established that Census officials caused the 

agency to fail to comply with these regulations. 

5 C.F.R. § 300.403(b) and (c) stipulate that, in order for a federal agency to properly work with 

headhunting firms, they must provide vacancy notices to state-level employment offices and to 

OPM, while going about their own recruiting efforts.254 While Census reported that it 

conducted recruiting efforts, this activity took place approximately one year after the 

Headhunter began searching for candidates, not contemporaneous with it. The regulation 

                                                           

254 5 C.F.R. § 300.403. 
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specifies that the agency’s recruiting efforts should precede or be contemporaneous with the 

commercial firm’s efforts, by noting that the agency may use the recruiting firm when it 

“continues” its own recruiting efforts, necessarily meaning that those efforts are already 

ongoing.255 As a result, Census failed to comply with 5 C.F.R. § 300.403(b) and (c).  

255 5 C.F.R. § 300.403(c).  

5 C.F.R. § 300.405(a) requires that federal agencies have a written contract awarded to engage 

the services of a commercial recruiting firm. As noted in the previous sections, Census did not 

have a contract in place until almost 100 days after the contractor began performing services, 

and in total, had a contract in place for only 49 percent of the time that the Headhunter was 

actually performing the work for the agency. As a result, Census failed to comply with 5 C.F.R. 

§ 300.405(a).  

5 C.F.R. § 300.405(b) prescribes certain language and conditions that must be included in the 

written contract with the recruiting firm. In particular, § 300.405(b) requires that the contract: 

(1) “include the qualifications requirements for the position(s) to be filled,” (2) include language 

about screening “candidates only against the basic qualifications requirements,” and (3) comply 

with “merit principles and equal opportunity laws.”   

The contract awarded to the Headhunter did not include specific or detailed qualifications for 
the position to be filled. In fact, Census’s contract with the Headhunter actually obscures 

information about the position to be filled by inaccurately representing that the Headhunter 

was to “search for candidates to fill critical prospective senior level positions as needed.” The 

OIG did not find any evidence that the Headhunter was ever instructed to search for 

candidates for multiple positions, or any position other than the Decennial Position. In fact, 

every relevant witness other than the Senior Employee (specifically, the Director, Executive, 

and Headhunter) rejected the idea that the Headhunter was searching for any position other 

than the Decennial Position. Yet, for a contract that was awarded to conduct an executive 

search for the Decennial Position, the word “decennial” is not mentioned once in the contract, 

nor is the position otherwise defined. As a result, we concluded that the contract awarded to 

the Headhunter did not include accurate information about the position to be filled, and 

therefore, Census failed to comply with 5 C.F.R. § 300.405(b).  
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Chapter 4: Responses to Draft Report 

The OIG provided excerpts of this report to the Director, Senior Employee, and Senior 

Acquisition Official. Each individual was provided only with sections that described their 

conduct or that discussed their compliance with laws, regulations and policies. The three 

individuals were given an opportunity to provide feedback on the report in writing, and each 

person availed themselves of the opportunity to do so. All of the comments provided were 

considered together with the totality of the evidence, and the OIG made appropriate changes, 

which are reflected throughout the report.  

I. Census Director 

The Census Director’s counsel provided a response, which is attached in Appendix D. The OIG 

considered this response and made appropriate changes in the analysis section of the report.  

II. Senior Employee 

The Senior Employee’s counsel provided a response, which is attached in Appendix D. The 

OIG had concerns about certain aspects of the Senior Employee’s testimony, and the resulting 

findings were strongly contested by the Senior Employee’s counsel. The OIG evaluated this 

response with the evidence and made appropriate changes.  

III. Senior Acquisition Official 

Over the course of the investigation, the OIG had concerns about the credibility of certain 

statements made by the Senior Acquisition Official concerning his involvement in the contract 

process prior to its award. In providing comments to the OIG, the Senior Acquisition Official 

wrote that any differences in his testimony on the topic of his interactions with the Director 

from one interview to another resulted from honest lapses in memory. He noted that, even to 

the date of his response, he did not recall details about his initial conversation with the Census 

Director about the contract with the Headhunter, including “where, when, and exactly what 

was discussed.” He also provided additional context for his workload, explaining that he 

receives “hundreds of emails weekly” and that he has “formal and informal conversations 

routinely with customers at all levels of the organization.” He noted that the Acquisitions 

Division processed over 1,500 actions in FY 2014 and that during the time period in question, 

he was involved in several significant projects. The OIG evaluated this response with the 

evidence and made appropriate changes. 
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Chapter 5: Conclusion and Recommendations 

As noted at the outset of this report, there are many rules governing the conduct of federal 

agencies and employees related to contracting. Despite this, Census could have taken several 

different paths to obtain assistance in recruiting for the Decennial Position in compliance with 

the rules.  

For example, to meet Census’s need for assistance in its recruiting effort, it could have 

conducted a full and open competition, allowing private firms to submit proposals and 

evaluating them based on publicly-disclosed criteria. Census would have been able to choose 

whether to evaluate firms based on either lowest overall cost or best value to the government. 

If the Headhunter applied for the contract and was able to compete against other firms on 

these criteria, Census would have been able to award the contract to him. If not, Census would 

have been able to select either a cheaper firm, or a firm that presented a better overall value to 

the government.  

Census also could have selected three pre-qualified headhunting firms off the GSA Schedule, 

conducted an evaluation of them, and selected one to receive the contract. Firms on the GSA 

Schedule have undergone government-wide competition, and have been pre-approved to 

provide goods and services to federal agencies with less administrative burden than conducting 

full and open competition. Census also could have directly awarded the recruitment contract 

without competition to the Small Business Administration for performance by a small, 

economically disadvantaged firm participating in the 8(a) program. In addition, Census may have 

been able to hire the Headhunter as a consultant for a limited period of time, though it would 

have been the individual, and not the firm, that would have been working for the Census 

Bureau.256  

256 5 C.F.R. part 304. 

In light of the findings contained in this report, the OIG recommends the following:  

1. The Department consider appropriate action regarding the officials involved with the 

compliance matters discussed in this report.  

2. The Department evaluate whether an Antideficiency Act violation occurred. 

3. The Census Acquisition Division should remind its staff that they are the first line of 

defense in the acquisition process, and it is their job to enforce the acquisition rules 

regardless of the value of the contract or who is seeking the product or service. The 

U.S. Census Bureau should provide training to its acquisition staff regarding sole source 

awards to ensure that all future awards are made in compliance with CICA and the FAR.  

4. The U.S. Census Bureau should consider a requirement that the Office of General 

Counsel review all sole source awards requiring a justification for legal sufficiency prior 

to award of the contract. 
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Appendix A: Candidate Submissions 
This appendix contains examples of candidate submissions by the Headhunter before and after 

the February 2014 contract award.  
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Appendix B: Comparison of Justification 
Documents 
Table I I. Side-by-Side Comparison of 20 I I and 2014 Justification Documents 
The yellow highlighted portions sign ify the language differences between the two documents. 

Description of 
Services 

Statutory 
Authori 

56 

These services are necessary to assist the U.S. 
Census Bureau (Census) in identifying 
appropriate and qualified candidates for 
consideration and ultimately selection of the 
best candidate to fill the critical Executive 
Leadership position f Associate Director to~ 
Demographic Pr29rams. This unique source 
possesses the exce('.>tional capacity to match 
the right person to this challenging position and 
has a proven trac record for attracting the best 
possible candidates due to their extensive 
experience with survey organizations. 
exceptional networking skills and connections 
the company has maintained o er the course of 
its twen nine ears in the indust . 
Recruitment/"Headhunting" Services to locate 
the best qualified candidate to fill the role o~ 
Associate Director for De ographic ograms 
lat Census; taking into consideration the 
importance of identifying/recruiting the 
candidate capable of balancing the values of a 
mission-driven enterprise with the demands of 
organizational transformation to meet changing 
demographics and emerging data needs. 

Contractor must understand Census's need to 
recruit from a new generation of leaders to 
whom a responsible, civic-minded society is not 
a luxury, but a necessity. It is imperative that 
the contractor be familiar with survey 
organizations and best practices in survey 
methods and processing in its search for 
appropriate candidates to fill the Executive 
position(s); keeping in mind the importance of 
diversity, skills. and capability to locate those 
candidates with proven skills in the area of 
change management as well as executive 
leadership. Contractor will conduct the search in 
accordance with its established business model 
of dividing the search into five phases: 
Understanding the Challenge; Networking & 
Screening of Prospective Candidates; 
Narrowing the Field; Selecting Finalists and 
Checking References; and The Final 
Recommendation/Selection/Choice. 
41 U.S.C. 253 (c) (1)- Only One Responsible 
Source. 

The required services are necessary rom a 
contracto~ to assist the U.S. Census Bureau in 
identifying appropriate and qualified candidates for 
consideration and ultimately selection of the best 
candidate to fill critical Executive Leadership 
positions s needed .... This unique source 
i:iossesses the exceptional capacity to match the right 
candidate to a challenging position and has a proven 
record of accomplishment for attracting the best 
possible candidates due to their extensive experience 
with statistical, survey ('.>er tio and organizations, 
exceptional networking skills and connections the 
company has maintained over its historY in the 
industry. 

Recruitment/"Headhunting" Services to locate the 
best qualified candidates to fi ll uniciue, specialized 
Census Bureau positions; taking into consideration 
the importance of identifying/recruiting the candidate 
capable of balancing the values of a mission-driven 
enterprise with the demands of organizational 
transformation to meet changing demographics and 
emerging data needs and innovation. Contractor 
must understand Census' need to recruit from a new 
generation of leaders to whom a responsible, civic­
minded society is not a luxury, but a necessity. It is 
imperative that the contractor is familiar with 
statistical survey organizations and best practices in 
survey methods and processing in its search for 
appropriate candidates to fill the Executive 
position(s); keeping in mind the importance of 
diversity, skills, and capability to locate those 
candidates with proven skills in the area of research 
based innovation, change management as well as 
executive leadership. Contractor will conduct the 
search in accordance with its established business 
model of dividing the search into five phases: 
Understanding the Challenge; Networking and 
Screening of Prospective Candidates; Narrowing the 
Field; Selecting Finalists and Checking References; 
and The Final Recommendation/Selection/Choice. 

41 U.S.C. 253 (c) (1 )- Only One Responsible Source. 
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Unique 
Qualifications  

[Headhunter’s] expertise in this area has grown 
out of its founders’ public service backgrounds 
and commitment to finding talented people to 
lead and enhance public 
institutions/enterprises. [Headhunter] 
undertakes nationwide searches for a wide 
variety of organizations, including leading 
universities, research institutions, academic 
medical centers, foundations, cultural 
institutions, economic development 
organizations, human service agencies, and 
national advocacy groups. Most of 
[Headhunter’s] clients are not-for-profit groups, 
but they also work with select for-profit 
corporations, particularly those with ties to 
education and science, as well as with socially 
responsible companies. These skills and 
experience are determined to be a perfect fit for 
this Government executive recruitment 
requirement.  
 
[Headhunter’s] approach to search is simple but 
disciplined. The firm's first step is to spend a 
great deal of time with the client (in this case, 
the U. S. Census Bureau Executives), getting to 
know the organization, and creating, through a 
collaborative process, a profile of the ideal 
candidate. The search process emphasizes in-
depth interviewing and reference checking of 
candidates along with a thoughtful analysis of 
the fit between the client organization and 
candidate. The Census Bureau is convinced 
that this exact approach will result in a positive 
and successful outcome. 

[Headhunter’s] expertise working with high quality 
statistical, social science research, not for profit, and 
public interest organizations has grown out of an 
extensive background and commitment to finding 
talented people to lead and enhance these 
institutions and enterprises. [Headhunter] undertakes 
nationwide searches for a wide variety of 
organizations, including leading universities, research 
institutions, academic medical centers, foundations, 
cultural institutions, economic development 
organizations, human service agencies, and national 
advocacy groups. Most of [Headhunter’s] clients have 
ties to education and science organizations, as well 
as with socially responsible companies. These skills 
and experience are determined to be a perfect fit for 
this Government executive recruitment requirement. 
[Headhunter’s] approach to executive recruitment 
searches is simple but disciplined. The firm's first 
step is to spend a great deal of time with the client, 
getting to know the organization, and creating, 
through a collaborative process, a profile of the ideal 
candidate. The search process emphasizes in depth 
interviewing and reference checking of candidates 
along with a thoughtful analysis of the fit between the 
client organization and candidate. The Census 
Bureau is convinced that this exact approach will 
result in a positive and successful outcome. 

No other 
potential 
sources are 
available 

Through extensive market research it is 
determined that there are no other sources with 
the exact, unique skills and success rates 
demonstrated by [the Headhunter], in the area 
of Executive Position recruitment. The unique 
skills and business process/model employed by 
[Headhunter] places this firm in the unique 
position of being the most capable to provide 
the mission critical services Census needs 
coupled with the unsurpassed reliability/success 
rate demonstrated through the firm's past 
performance. 

Through extensive market research it is determined 
that there are no other sources with the exact, unique 
skills and success rates demonstrated by [the 
Headhunter], in the area of executive position 
recruitment. The unique skills and business 
process/model employed by [Headhunter] places this 
firm in the unique position of being the most capable 
to provide the mission critical services Census needs 
coupled with the unsurpassed reliability/success rate 
demonstrated through the firm's past performance. 

Cost  It is anticipated that the company will employ 
the standard industry practice of a 20-30% fee, 
based on the value of the salary of the 
recruitment. Other Direct Costs (such as travel) 
will be reimbursed at contractor’s cost as long 
as it is determined allowable and allocable to 
the recruitment requirement.  

It is anticipated that the company will employ the 
standard industry practice of 25% fee, based on the 
value of the salary of the recruitment. Other Direct 
Costs (such as travel) will be reimbursed at 
contractor’s cost as long as it is determined allowable 
and allocable to the recruitment requirement.  
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Market 
Research 

As noted above, the ability to fulfill this 
requirement, requires detailed knowledge of 
executive recruitment as it relates to the U.S. 
Census Bureau, it's uniqueness and critical 
mission of a national, even global level. Such 
experience is limited explicitly to the provider of 
this service. There are recruiting and Human 
Resources firms that conduct this type of 
exercise; however, there is no evidence of any 
firms with the proven experience, methodology, 
and success rate exhibited by [Headhunter] and 
required by the U.S. Census Bureau. 

As noted above, the ability to fulfill this requirement 
requires detailed knowledge of executive recruitment 
as it relates to the U.S. Census Bureau, its 
uniqueness and critical mission of a national, even 
global level. Such experience is limited explicitly to 
the provider of this service. There are recruiting and 
human resources firms that conduct this type of 
exercise; however, no information was found of any 
other firms with the proven experience, methodology, 
and success rate exhibited by [Headhunter] for the 
specialized services required by the U.S. Census 
Bureau. 

Other 
Supporting 
Facts  

No alternative source of comparable skills, 
knowledge, and business process model are 
immediately available at any price. The amount 
of time and funds required to fulfill this 
Executive Recruitment requirement by any 
other source that could not guarantee success 
would cause an unacceptable delay in the 
Census Bureau's ability to fulfill its mission. Not 
acquiring the services of [Headhunter] will 
jeopardize the quality and timeliness of the 
Census Bureau ability to successfully recruit the 
Executive position. 

No alternative source of comparable skills, 
knowledge, and business process model are 
immediately available at any price. The amount of 
time and funds required to fulfill this Executive 
Recruitment requirement by any other source that 
could not guarantee success would cause an 
unacceptable delay in the Census Bureau's ability to 
fulfill its mission. Not acquiring the services of 
[Headhunter] will jeopardize the quality and 
timeliness of the Census Bureau ability to 
successfully recruit the Executive position(s). 
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